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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor 
provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than 
statements of present and historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including without 
limitation, statements regarding our intent, belief and expectations about our future results of operations and 
financial position, business strategy and approach are forward-looking. You can generally identify forward-looking 
statements by our use of forward-looking terminology such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” 
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “seek,” “vision,” or “should,” or the 
negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology. However, the absence of these words or 
similar terminology does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

Forward-looking statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently 
available to us. Such beliefs and assumptions may or may not prove to be correct. Additionally, such forward-
looking statements are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, and actual 
results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements due to various 
factors, including, but not limited to, those identified in Part I. Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and in Part II. Item 7. 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” 

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements as guarantees of future 
performance. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, 
our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we 
operate, may differ materially from the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Any forward-looking statement that we make in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the date hereof. 
Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update or revise, or to publicly announce any 
update or revision to, any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise, after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise, references to 
“Mister Car Wash,” “Mister,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our,” refer to Mister Car Wash, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
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Market and Industry Data

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes estimates regarding market and industry data that we prepared based on 
management’s knowledge and experience in the markets in which we operate, together with information obtained 
from various sources, including publicly available information, industry reports and publications, surveys, our 
customers, distributors, suppliers, trade and business organizations and other contacts in the markets in which we 
operate. Management estimates are derived from publicly available information released by independent industry 
analysts and third-party sources, as well as data from our internal research, and are based on assumptions made by 
management upon reviewing such data and our knowledge of such industry and markets which we believe to be 
reasonable. In presenting this information, we have made certain assumptions that we believe to be reasonable based 
on such data and other similar sources and on our knowledge of, and our experience to date in, the markets for the 
services we offer. Market share data is subject to change and may be limited by the availability of raw data, the 
voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations inherent in any statistical survey of market 
shares. In addition, customer preferences are subject to change. Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on such market share data. References herein to the markets in which we conduct our business refer to the 
geographic metropolitan areas in which we operate our locations.
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PART I 

Item 1. Business

Who We Are

Mister Car Wash, Inc. is the largest national car wash brand, primarily offering express exterior cleaning services, 
with interior cleaning services at select locations, across 476 car wash locations in 21 states, as of December 31, 
2023. Founded in 1996, we employ an efficient, repeatable and scalable process, which we call the “Mister 
Experience,” to deliver a clean, dry and shiny car every time. The core pillars of the “Mister Experience” are 
providing the highest quality car wash and ensuring the experience is quick and convenient. We offer a monthly 
subscription program, Unlimited Wash Club ® ("UWC"), as a flexible, quick and convenient option for customers 
to keep their cars clean. 

Our purpose is simple: Inspire People to Shine®. This starts with our people. We attract and retain a pool of talent 
by investing in their training and development through our specialized programs and our MisterLearn training 
platform that allows us to develop and promote entry-level team members to leadership roles. As a result, our team 
members are highly engaged and deliver memorable experiences to our customers. We have proven our people-first 
approach is scalable and has enabled us to develop a world class team, comprised of both internally developed talent 
and external hires from top service organizations. We believe our purpose-driven culture is critical to our success.

We believe Mister Car Wash offers an affordable, feel-good experience, enjoyed by all who value a clean, dry and 
shiny car. As we grow and to serve the approximately 290 million registered vehicles in the United States as of the 
end of 2023, we are dedicated to putting our team members first and delivering a consistent, convenient and high-
quality car wash experience at scale.

Products and Services

Our car wash locations consist of two formats: (a) Express Exterior Locations (406 locations as of December 31, 
2023) and (b) Interior Cleaning Locations (70 locations as of December 31, 2023). All locations offer express 
exterior wash packages and have exterior-only lanes. Every wash includes our T3 Cleaning Conditioner, Wheel 
Cleaner, and Dynamic Dry system.

Express Exterior Locations

Express Exterior Locations offer self-drive exterior cleaning services and include free vacuums available for 
customer use. Customers purchase a wash or sign-up for a UWC membership through sales kiosks or assisted by 
team members and remain in their vehicle through the tunnel and wash process. Customers have the option to use 
free self-serve vacuums at any time before or after their exterior wash.

Interior Cleaning Locations

Interior Cleaning Locations offer exterior and interior cleaning services, including vacuuming by our team members. 
Customers purchase a wash or sign-up for a UWC membership through sales kiosks or assisted by team members 
and either remain in their vehicle through the tunnel and wash process or wait in the lobby. Customers who purchase 
interior cleaning services have their vehicles vacuumed and cleaned by Mister team members.

Our Customers

We serve a diverse mix of customers, which include individual retail customers and UWC Members, which include 
both retail and corporate customers. Given the broad appeal of our services, we have a wide variety of customers 
spanning a broad set of demographics. The portfolio of cars serviced across our locations is diverse and represents a 
balance across new and old cars and across all vehicle price points. Our customer service, convenient locations and 
easy-to-manage membership programs have helped position our locations as the “go-to” destinations for our 
customers’ car wash needs.
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Markets

We are the largest national car wash brand and have developed extensive resources and capabilities over our 25-year 
history. Our scale, consistency of operations at every location and culture of continuous improvement have allowed 
us to develop an efficient and high-quality customer experience with every wash.

We believe our key differentiators include our unified national brand, robust training & development programs 
which generate a talent pipeline, dedicated regional support infrastructure, sophisticated technology and proprietary 
product formulation, and strategic market density "network effect".

Key Growth Drivers

Grow Our UWC Members to Drive Predictable Earnings Growth and Higher Annual Customer Spend

We believe there is an opportunity to continue to grow UWC penetration in core, acquired and greenfield locations. 
In 2023, we increased overall UWC penetration from 68% to 71% of total wash sales. We estimate that the average 
UWC Member spends more than four times the retail car wash consumer, providing us an opportunity to increase 
our sales as penetration increases. At both new greenfield and acquired locations, we have developed proven 
processes for growing UWC membership per location. 

Build Upon Our Established Success in Opening Greenfield Locations

During 2023, we successfully opened 35 greenfield locations and expect to lead our future location growth through 
greenfield locations. We have developed a process for opening new greenfield locations, from site selection to post-
opening local marketing initiatives, which has driven our greenfield performance consistently over time. We plan to 
continue to invest in this part of our growth strategy and have a development pipeline for future locations in existing 
and adjacent markets nationwide.

Pursue Opportunistic Acquisitions in Highly Fragmented Industry

We will continue to employ a disciplined approach to acquisitions, carefully selecting locations that meet our criteria 
for a potential Mister Car Wash site. We have a track record of location growth through acquisitions and have a 
process for integrating acquired locations, which includes a variety of upgrades to each location that has led to the 
successful integration of over 100 acquisitions during our history.

Drive Scale Efficiencies and Robust Free Cash Flow Generation

We will continue to utilize our scale to drive operating leverage as our business grows. As we open and acquire new 
locations and maximize throughput at our existing locations through our ongoing focus on operational excellence, 
we believe we will have an opportunity to generate meaningful efficiencies of scale.

Marketing 

We lead with a unified national brand across our entire footprint. To acquire, convert and retain our customers at a 
local level, we use a mix of traditional and digital marketing tactics and channels to emphasize our convenient, easy, 
and high-quality wash experience.

Competitive Conditions

The car wash industry is fragmented, and we compete with a variety of operators including national, regional and 
local independent car wash operators, and gasoline and convenience retailers that also offer car washes. We believe 
our scale allows us to compete effectively due to our convenience, quality, price, and service.

Resources

Our Proprietary Products and Advanced Technology

Our research and development team is responsible for car wash processes, equipment and technology improvements. 
The team tests new products, formulations, processes and ideas in select markets before rolling out improvements 
and changes across the broader platform. Through continuous research and development, Mister Car Wash has 
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formulated a balanced wash process that factors in conveyor length, line speed, water quality, mechanical 
equipment, ambient temperature and soil conditions.

Suppliers and Distribution

We maintain long-term relationships with our key vendors. We believe our scale and large volume purchases 
provide us leverage in securing competitive pricing. Our key purchases include car wash equipment and parts and 
wash chemicals.

While we maintain a limited stock of parts and supplies for repairs and maintenance, most equipment, chemicals, 
and other supplies are purchased on an as-needed basis, which generally are shipped directly from the vendors to our 
locations. We have deep industry knowledge and maintain relationships with previous and prospective vendors to 
quickly address issues that may arise with our current supply chain.

In 2018, we entered into an agreement with a supplier of a comprehensive suite of hardware, software, and 
management systems for our car wash locations which better track our membership and customer loyalty programs, 
streamline our operations and enhance our ability to track costs.

Intellectual Property and Trademarks

We own intellectual property, including patents, patent applications, technology, trade secrets, know-how and 
trademarks in the United States and internationally. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 56 trademark 
registrations and applications, including registrations for “Mister Car Wash,” “Hotshine,” “Mister Hotshine” and 
“Unlimited Wash Club,” and held one U.S. patent, one foreign patent and one pending U.S. patent application. Our 
issued patents are expected to expire between 2024 and 2025. We have also registered the Internet domain name: 
“mistercarwash.com”.

We believe that our trademarks and other proprietary rights are important to our success and our competitive 
position, and, therefore, we devote resources to the protection of our trademarks and proprietary rights. However, we 
believe that no single patent, trademark or intellectual property asset is material in relation to our business as a 
whole.

Seasonality

As a result of our presence in certain markets that are subject to seasonal weather patterns, some of our business is 
seasonal. However, our 21-state geographic diversity typically limits the weather impacts of a specific region on 
overall performance. Additionally, we do experience a majority of sales of UWC memberships during the first six 
months of the year.

Human Capital

We are centered around our purpose of Inspiring People to Shine, and that starts with our team members. To recruit 
and retain the most qualified team members in the industry, we focus on treating our team members well by paying 
them competitive wages, offering them attractive benefit packages, offering robust training and development 
opportunities, and providing an operational support infrastructure with opportunities for upward mobility. We 
believe engaged employees are more productive, are more likely to have a positive impact on other employees 
around them and are more likely to deliver great customer service.

Team Members

We continually focus our efforts on refining our staffing model to ensure our wash locations run as efficiently as 
possible.  This will allow us to continue our focus on competitive wages and benefits as well as investing in the 
training and development of our team members. We invest in the training and development of our team members 
through our specialized programs and our MisterLearn training platform that allows us to develop and promote 
entry-level team members to leadership roles. As a result, our team members are highly engaged and deliver 
memorable experiences to our customers. Through these efforts, we expect to build strength in our bench of future 
leaders while increasing retention and diversity.

As of December 31, 2023, we employed approximately 6,600 team members, which is a 4% increase from the prior 
year. This increase was primarily due to adding 40 net locations throughout the year.
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Environmental Matters & Other Governmental Regulation

We are subject to various laws and regulations, including those governing labor and employment including 
minimum wages and paid sick time, workplace safety, employee and public health, consumer protection, recurring 
debit and credit card charges, information security, consumer protection, data privacy, marketing and advertising, 
environmental protection and compliance, including recycling, waste and water usage, zoning and land use, taxation 
and public company compliance. We monitor changes in these laws and believe that we are in material compliance 
with applicable laws. 

We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to 
ownership and operation of underground storage tanks; the release or discharge of regulated materials into the air, 
water and soil; the generation, storage, handling, use, transportation and disposal of regulated materials, including 
wastes; the exposure of persons to hazardous materials; remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater; and the 
health and safety of employees dedicated to such transportation and storage activities.

Environmental laws and regulations can restrict or impact our business activities in many ways, such as:

requiring the acquisition of certifications, registrations, permits or other authorizations or the provision of 
financial assurances in connection with the transportation, storage and sale of hazardous substances and other 
regulated activities;

requiring remedial action to mitigate releases of petroleum hydrocarbons, hazardous substances or wastes 
caused by our operations or attributable to former operators;

requiring capital expenditures to comply with environmental pollution control, cathodic protection or release 
detection requirements;

enjoining the operations of facilities deemed to be in noncompliance with environmental laws and regulations; 
and

imposing substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.

Compliance with existing laws, rules, and regulations has not historically had a material impact on our capital 
expenditures, earnings or competitive position. With respect to acquired locations, we conduct due diligence 
regarding potential exposure to environmental liabilities and overall regulatory compliance but cannot be certain that 
we have identified or will identify all adverse environmental conditions or non-compliance with applicable laws, 
rules and regulations.

For further discussion, see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Governmental Regulation – Our 
locations are subject to certain environmental laws and regulations.”

Available Information

Our website address is www.mistercarwash.com. We post, and stockholders may access without charge, our recent 
filings and any amendments to our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current 
Reports on Form 8-K and our Proxy Statement as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

We may use our website as a distribution channel of material information about the Company. Financial and other 
important information regarding the Company is routinely posted on and accessible through the Investor Relations 
sections of its website at https://ir.mistercarwash.com.

The reference to the Company's or other websites herein does not constitute incorporation by reference of the 
information contained on or available through our website, and you should not consider such information to be a 
part of this Form 10-K.

The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including us, at http://www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your 
investment. The risks described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks not currently known to us or 
that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business

Global economic conditions, including inflation and supply chain disruptions, could adversely affect our 
operations.

General global economic downturns and macroeconomic trends, including heightened inflation, capital market 
volatility, interest rate fluctuations, and economic slowdown or recession, may result in unfavorable conditions that 
could negatively affect demand for our services and exacerbate some of the other risks that affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. Domestic markets experienced significant inflationary pressures in 
fiscal year 2023. In addition, in fiscal year 2023 the Federal Reserve in the U.S. raised interest rates in response to 
concerns about inflation, which, coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, had 
the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks. Interest rate increases or other 
government actions taken to reduce inflation could also result in recessionary pressures. Additionally, these risks 
which are beyond our control, could adversely affect operating costs and administrative expenses such as wages, 
benefits, supplies and inventory costs, legal claims, insurance costs and borrowing costs. Any such increase could 
reduce our sales and profit margins if we do not choose, or are unable, to pass the increased costs to our customers.

Furthermore, consumer purchases of car washes decline during periods when economic or market conditions are 
unstable or weak. Reduced consumer confidence and spending cutbacks may result in reduced demand for our 
services, which could result in lost sales. Reduced demand also may require increased selling and promotional 
expenses, thereby impacting our profitability. Prolonged or pervasive economic downturns could slow the pace of 
new greenfield openings, reduce comparable sales or cause us to close certain locations, which could have a material 
negative impact on our financial performance.

We may be unable to sustain or increase demand for our UWC subscription program, which could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and rate of growth.

Because our UWC subscription program accounted for 71% of our total wash sales in 2023, our continued business 
and revenue growth is largely dependent on our ability to continue to attract and retain UWC Members. We may not 
be successful, however, in continuing to grow the number of UWC Members on a net basis from period to period 
and our membership levels may decline.

UWC Members can cancel their membership at any time and may decide to cancel or forego memberships due to 
any number of reasons, including increased prices for UWC membership or for our services, quality issues with our 
services, harm to our reputation or brand, seasonal usage, or individuals’ personal economic pressures. Increasing 
governmental regulation of automatically renewing subscription programs may negatively impact our marketing of 
this program. A decline in the number of UWC Members could materially and adversely affect our business, results 
of operations and financial condition.

If we fail to acquire, open and operate new locations in a timely and cost-effective manner or fail to successfully 
enter new markets, our financial performance could be materially and adversely affected.

Our growth strategy depends on growing our location base, both through greenfield expansion and acquisitions, in 
existing and new geographic regions and operating our new locations successfully. Our ability to execute our growth 
strategy on favorable terms and successfully operate new locations may be exposed to significant risks, including, 
but not limited to, the following:

we may be unable to acquire a desired location or property because of competition from other investors with 
significant capital;
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even if we are able to acquire a desired location or property, competition from other potential acquirers may 
significantly increase the purchase price or result in other less favorable terms;

we may be unable to complete an acquisition because we cannot secure sale leaseback financing on favorable 
terms or at all;

we may spend more than budgeted amounts to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired 
locations;

we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate acquired locations into our existing operations;

acquired properties may be subject to tax reassessment, which may result in higher-than-expected property tax 
payments;

loss of key staff at acquired locations or inability to attract, retain and motivate staff necessary for our 
expanded operations;

acquired locations or greenfield expansions in regions where we have not historically conducted business may 
subject us to new operational risks, laws, regulations, staff expectations, customs, and practices; and

we may acquire properties subject to liabilities and without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with 
respect to unknown liabilities, such as liabilities for the remediation of undisclosed environmental 
contamination; and claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers, and others indemnified 
by the former owners of the properties.

The realization of any of the above risks could significantly and adversely affect our ability to meet our financial 
expectations, our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows, the market price of our common stock, 
and our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations. We cannot assure you that our growth strategy will be 
successful, or that such expansion will be completed in the time frames or at the costs we estimate.

In addition, there can be no assurance that newly opened or acquired locations will achieve sales or profitability 
levels comparable to those of our existing locations in the time periods estimated by us, or at all. In instances where 
new or acquired locations are geographically proximate to existing locations, such locations may also adversely 
impact the comparable store sales growth of our existing car wash locations. Changes in areas around our locations 
or to the adjacent streets that reduce car traffic or otherwise render the locations unsuitable, could cause our sales to 
decline or otherwise be less than expected. If our locations fail to achieve, or are unable to sustain, acceptable total 
sales and profitability levels, our business may be materially and adversely affected, and we may incur significant 
costs associated with the early closure of such locations. Our plans to accelerate the growth of our location base may 
increase this risk.

If we are unable to compete successfully against other companies and operators in our industry, we may lose 
customers and market share and our revenues may decline.

The car wash industry is fragmented, and we compete with a variety of operators. We believe customers consider a 
number of competitive factors, including name and brand recognition, location, price, product availability and 
customer service.

In addition, our reputation is critical to our continued success. If we fail to maintain high standards for, or receive 
negative publicity relating to, customer service or quality, as well as our integrity and reputation, we could lose 
customers to our competition.

Competition may also require us to reduce our prices, alter current service offerings, or change some of our current 
operating strategies. If we do not have the resources, expertise and consistent execution, or otherwise fail to develop 
successful strategies, to address these potential competitive disadvantages, we may lose customers and market share, 
and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategies on a timely basis or at all.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our reputation and brand recognition are critical to our relationships with 
existing customers and our ability to attract new customers. The promotion of our brand may require us to make 
substantial investments and we anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive, these marketing 
initiatives may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Our marketing activities may not be successful or yield 
increased revenue, and to the extent that these activities yield increased revenue, the increased revenue may not 
offset the expenses we incur, and our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, any factor that diminishes our reputation or that of our management, including failing to meet the 
expectations of our customers, could make it substantially more difficult for us to attract new customers. The 
marked increase in the use of social media platforms that provide individuals with access to a broad audience of 
consumers and other interested persons results in the opportunity for dissemination of information, including 
inaccurate information. Information posted may be averse to our interests or inaccurate, each of which may harm our 
performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or 
correction.

If we do not successfully maintain and enhance our reputation and brand recognition with our customers, our 
business may not grow and we could lose our relationships with customers, which would materially and adversely 
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to a number of risks and regulations related to credit card and debit card payments we accept.

Our customers pay for our services using a variety of different payment methods, including credit and debit cards, 
gift cards, and prepaid cards. We rely on internal systems and those of third parties to process payment. Acceptance 
and processing of these payment methods are subject to certain rules, regulations, and industry standards, including 
data storage requirements, additional authentication requirements for certain payment methods, and require payment 
of interchange and other fees. For credit card and debit card payments, we pay interchange and other fees, which 
may increase over time. An increase in those fees would require us to either increase the prices we charge for our 
memberships, which could cause us to lose UWC Members or suffer an increase in our operating expenses, either of 
which could harm our operating results.

If we or any of our processing vendors have problems with our billing software or the billing software malfunctions, 
it could have an adverse effect on our member satisfaction and could cause one or more of the major credit card 
companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In addition, if our billing software fails to work 
properly and, as a result, we do not automatically charge our UWC Members’ credit cards or debit cards on a timely 
basis or at all, we could lose membership revenue, which would materially and adversely affect our operating 
results.

If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card and debit card transactions, we may face civil liability, 
diminished public perception of our security measures and significantly higher credit card and debit card related 
costs, each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are 
subject to a number of federal regulations relating to the use of debit and credit cards, such as the Electronic Funds 
Act and the Truth in Lending Act of 1968, which provide guidelines and parameters for payment processing on debit 
cards and credit cards, respectively, and certain state regulations relating to automatic renewal, including, among 
others, the California Business & Professional Code Section 17601-17606, as amended, which provides 
requirements we must follow for the automatic renewal of subscription fees such as those charged to our UWC 
Members. We may also face legal liability or reputational harm for any failure, or any allegation that we have failed, 
to comply with such consumer protection laws relating to consumer debit or credit transactions. We also are subject 
to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard ("PCI DSS"), issued by the PCI Council and to the American 
National Standards Institute ("ANSI") data encryption standards and payment network security operating guidelines, 
as well as the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act ("FACTA"). Failure to comply with these guidelines or 
standards may result in the imposition of financial penalties or the allocation by debit and credit card companies of 
the costs of fraudulent charges to us.

Any material interruptions or failures in our payment-related systems could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. If we are unable to comply with the security standards 
established by banks and the payment card industry, we may be subject to fines, restrictions and expulsion from card 
acceptance programs, which could materially and adversely affect our retail operations and the UWC program.



10

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for most of our car wash equipment and certain supplies.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for most of the car wash equipment and certain other supplies we use in 
our operations. Our ability to secure such equipment and supplies from alternative sources as needed may be time-
consuming or expensive or may cause a temporary disruption in our supply chain. In recent months, we have 
anticipated intermittent shortages of certain supplies from our standard vendors and, accordingly, we enhanced our 
sourcing procedures to identify alternative suppliers and avoid any actual shortages, albeit sometimes at additional 
cost. Additionally, we do not have a supplier contract with our main supplier of car wash tunnel equipment, and our 
orders are based on purchase orders. As such, we are subject to the risk that a supplier will not continue to provide 
us with the required car wash tunnel equipment. We also do not carry a significant inventory of such equipment. 
Increasingly during 2021, the delivery times were extended on certain equipment for our greenfield pipeline but, 
through alternative sourcing, we have thus far avoided any significant disruptions. Shortages or interruptions in the 
supply of car wash equipment and other supplies could occur for reasons within or beyond the control of us and the 
supplier. Decreased fuel supplies are anticipated to increase fuel prices, which may adversely impact our 
transportation costs. Any shortage or interruption to our supply chain could reduce our sales and profit margins, 
which in turn may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our locations may experience difficulty hiring and retaining qualified personnel, resulting in higher labor costs.

The operation of our locations requires both entry-level and skilled team members, and trained personnel continue to 
be in high demand and short supply at competitive compensation levels in some areas, which is likely to result in 
increased labor costs. Accordingly, we may experience increased difficulty hiring and maintaining such qualified 
personnel. In addition, the formation of unions may increase the operating expenses of our locations. Our ability to 
meet our labor needs is subject to many factors such as prevailing wage rates, minimum wage legislation, 
unemployment levels, and actions by our competitors with respect to compensation levels and incentive plans. Any 
such future difficulties could result in a decline in customer service negatively impacting sales at our locations, 
which could in turn materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Many of our key personnel have worked for us for a significant amount of time or were recruited by us specifically 
due to their experience. Our success depends in part upon the reputation and influence within the industry of our 
senior managers. Each of our executive officers and other key employees may terminate his or her relationship with 
us at any time and the loss of the services of one or a combination of our senior executives or members of our senior 
management team may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business or development objectives 
and could materially harm our business. Further, contractual obligations related to confidentiality and 
noncompetition may be ineffective or unenforceable, and departing employees may share our proprietary 
information with competitors in ways that could adversely impact us.

We rely on cash from our operating activities to make lease payments for the land and buildings where many of 
our locations are situated, which may strain our cash flow and expose us to potential liabilities and losses.

We lease the land and buildings where a significant number of our locations are located. The terms of the leases and 
subleases vary in length, with primary terms (i.e., before consideration of option periods) expiring on various dates. 
In addition, we may not be able to terminate a particular lease if or when we would like to do so, which could 
prevent us from closing or relocating certain underperforming locations. Our obligations to pay rent are generally 
non-cancelable, even if the location operated at the leased or subleased location is closed. Thus, if we decide to close 
locations, we generally are required to continue paying rent and operating expenses for the balance of the lease term. 
The performance of any of these obligations may be expensive. We may not assign or sublet the leased locations 
without consent of the landlord. When we assign or sublease vacated locations, we may remain liable on the lease 
obligations if the assignee or sub-lessee does not perform. Accordingly, we are subject to the risks associated with 
leasing locations which can have a material adverse effect on us. 

As leases expire, we may be unable to negotiate renewals on commercially acceptable terms or at all, which could 
cause us to close locations in desirable locations or otherwise negatively affect profits, which in turn could 
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. 

We depend on net cash provided by operating activities to pay our rent and other lease expenses and to fulfill our 
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other cash needs. If our business does not generate sufficient cash provided by operating activities, and sufficient 
funds are not otherwise available to us from borrowings under our First Lien Term Loan and Revolving 
Commitment or from other sources, we may not be able to service our lease expenses, grow our business, respond to 
competitive challenges or fund our other liquidity and capital needs, which would harm our business. 

Changes in applicable tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. Our effective tax rate could also change materially as a result of various evolving factors, 
including changes in income tax law or changes in the scope of our operations.

We are subject to income taxation at the federal and state level due to the scope of our operations.  We have also 
recorded non-income tax-based liabilities such as those related to sales, property, payroll and withholding tax.  We 
have structured our operations in a manner designed to comply with current prevailing laws but the Internal Revenue 
Service, state and/or local taxing authorities could seek to impose incremental or new taxes on our business 
operations.  In addition, changes in federal and state tax rates, laws and regulations may result in additional income 
and non-income tax liabilities being imposed on us and have an adverse effect on our effective tax rate, results of 
operations and financial condition.  Lastly, changes in the scope of our operations, including expanding into new 
geographies, could increase our income tax liabilities and have an adverse impact on our effective tax rate.  

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Capital Requirements

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and competitive position.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $897.2 million of indebtedness, net of unamortized debt issuance costs, 
outstanding pursuant to an amended and restated first lien credit agreement entered into on May 14, 2019 “(First 
Lien Term Loan”). To service this debt and any additional debt we may incur in the future, we need to generate 
cash. Our ability to generate cash is subject, to a certain extent, to our ability to successfully execute our business 
strategy, including acquisition activity, as well as general economic, financial, competitive, regulatory and other 
factors beyond our control. There can be no assurance that our business will be able to generate sufficient cash flow 
from operations or that future borrowings or other financing will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable 
us to service our debt and fund our other capital needs. To the extent we are required to use our cash flow from 
operations or the proceeds of any future financing to service our debt instead of funding working capital, capital 
expenditures, or acquisitions, we will be less able to plan for, or react to, changes in our business, industry and in the 
economy generally. This places us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt. 
There can be no assurance that we will be able to refinance any of our debt on commercially reasonable terms or at 
all, or that the terms of that debt will allow any of the above alternative measures or that these measures would 
satisfy our scheduled debt service obligations. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to repay or refinance 
our debt on favorable terms, it could significantly adversely affect our financial condition and the value of our 
outstanding debt. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets 
and our financial condition. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to 
comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations, make it more difficult for 
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

The terms of our Credit Facilities impose certain operating and financial restrictions on us that may impair our 
ability to adapt to changing competitive or economic conditions. 

The credit agreements governing our Credit Facilities contain, and any agreements evidencing or governing other 
future debt may contain, certain restrictive covenants that limit our ability, among other things, to engage in certain 
activities that are in our long-term best interests, including our ability to: 

incur liens;

incur or assume additional debt or amend our debt and other material agreements;

issue certain disqualified stock;

declare or make dividends or distributions and redeem, repurchase or retire equity interests;
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prepay, redeem or repurchase debt;

make investments, loans, advances, guarantees and acquisitions;

enter into agreements restricting the ability to pay dividends or grant liens securing the obligations under the 
credit agreements;

amend or modify governing documents;

enter into transactions with affiliates;

engage in certain business activities or alter the business conducted by us and our restricted subsidiaries; and

engage in certain mergers, consolidations and asset sales.

In addition, the First Lien Term Loan contains a springing maximum first lien net leverage ratio financial covenant. 
Our ability to meet this requirement can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may not be able to satisfy 
such financial covenants. Our ability to comply with these covenants and restrictions may be affected by events and 
factors beyond our control. Our failure to comply with any of these covenants or restrictions could result in an event 
of default under our Credit Facilities. An event of default would permit the lending banks under the facility to take 
certain actions, including terminating all outstanding commitments and declaring all amounts outstanding under our 
credit facility to be immediately due and payable, including all outstanding borrowings, accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon, and all other amounts owing or payable with respect to such borrowings and any terminated commitments.

In addition, the lenders would have the right to proceed against the collateral we granted to them, which includes 
substantially our assets. 

In order to support the growth of our business, we may need to incur additional indebtedness or seek capital 
through new equity or debt financings, which sources of additional capital may not be available to us on 
acceptable terms or at all. 

We intend to continue to make significant investments to support our business growth, respond to business 
challenges or opportunities, develop new services, enhance our existing services and operating infrastructure and 
potentially acquire complementary businesses and assets. For the year ended December 31, 2023, our net cash 
provided by operating activities was $204.7 million. As of December 31, 2023, we had $19.0 million of cash and 
cash equivalents, which were held for working capital purposes.

Our future capital requirements may be significantly different from our current estimates and will depend on many 
factors, including the need to:

finance unanticipated working capital requirements;

develop or enhance our infrastructure and our existing services;

acquire complementary businesses, assets or services;

ensure the availability of sale-leaseback arrangements when we engage in an acquisition;

fund strategic relationships, including joint ventures and co-investments;

fund additional implementation engagements; and

respond to competitive pressures.

Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings or other arrangements to secure additional funds. 
Additional financing may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we raise additional funds through 
further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, 
and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of 
our ordinary shares. In addition, during times of economic instability, it has been difficult for many companies to 
obtain financing in the public markets or to obtain debt financing, and we may not be able to obtain additional 
financing on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on 
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terms satisfactory to us, it could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

We are a holding company and depend on our subsidiaries for cash to fund operations and expenses. 

We are a holding company that does not conduct any business operations of our own. As a result, we are largely 
dependent upon cash distributions and other transfers from our subsidiaries to meet our obligations and to make 
future dividend payments, if any. The deterioration of the earnings from, or other available assets of, our subsidiaries 
for any reason could impair their ability to make distributions to us.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

Our business is subject to various laws and regulations and changes in such laws and regulations, or failure to 
comply with existing or future laws and regulations, could adversely affect our business.

Our business is subject to numerous and frequently changing federal, state and local laws and regulations. We 
routinely incur significant costs in complying with these regulations. New or existing laws, regulations and policies, 
liabilities arising thereunder and the related interpretations and enforcement practices, particularly those dealing 
with minimum wages, paid sick time, workplace safety, employee and public health emergencies, advertising and 
marketing, consumer protection, recurring debit and credit card charges, information security, data privacy, 
environmental protection including recycling, waste, water usage, zoning and land use, taxation and public company 
compliance, may result in significant added expenses or may require extensive system and operating changes that 
may be difficult to implement and/or could materially increase our cost of doing business. In addition, we are 
subject to environmental laws pursuant to which we could be strictly liable for any contamination at our current or 
former locations, or at third-party waste disposal sites, regardless of our knowledge of or responsibility for such 
contamination.

Our locations are subject to certain environmental laws and regulations.

Our current and former car wash operations and quick lube businesses, as well as our former motor fuel dispensing, 
are governed by stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations, including environmental regulations of the 
handling, storage, transportation, import/export, recycling, or disposing of various new and used products the 
generation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes, and the release of materials into the environment. 
Additionally, in the course of our operations, we may generate some amounts of material that may be regulated as 
hazardous substances.

Pursuant to these laws and regulations, or future changes thereto, we may be required to obtain and maintain 
approvals or permits for the discharge of wastewater or storm water and are required to develop and implement spill 
prevention, control and countermeasure plans in connection with on-site storage of significant quantities of motor 
fuel. We believe that we maintain all required discharge permits necessary to conduct our operations, and further 
believe we are in substantial compliance with the terms thereof.

The federal Clean Air Act, as amended, (“CAA”) and similar state laws impose requirements on emissions to the air 
from motor fueling activities in certain areas of the country, including those that do not meet state or national 
ambient air quality standards. These laws may require the installation of vapor recovery systems to control 
emissions of volatile organic compounds to the air during the motor fueling process.

Under the CAA and comparable state and local laws, permits are typically required to emit regulated air pollutants 
into the atmosphere. In addition, the federal Clean Water Act ("CWA") and analogous state laws may require us to 
obtain and maintain individual permits or coverage under general permits for discharges of wastewater or storm 
water runoff. While we expect to obtain necessary approvals for our operations, as with all governmental permitting 
processes, there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether a particular permit will be granted, the time it will take for 
such permit to be issued, and the conditions that may be imposed in connection with the granting of such permit. We 
are unaware of pending changes to environmental laws and regulations that will have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition, results of operations or cash available for distribution to our stockholders; nonetheless, there 
exists the possibility that new laws or regulations may be imposed in the future that could result in more stringent 
and costly compliance requirements that potentially could materially and adversely affect our business. We are not 
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presently aware of any material liability related to the costs of investigations and cleaning up sites of spills, disposals 
or other releases of hazardous materials at our current or former locations or business operations.

The historical transportation, distribution and storage of motor fuels (diesel fuel and gasoline) and other 
chemicals are subject to environmental protection and operational safety laws and regulations.

As of December 31, 2023, we have ceased dispensing gasoline and diesel fuels at all locations. However, our 
historical operations, at limited locations inherited through acquisitions, involved using underground storage tanks 
(USTs) for fuel and chemicals. Some of these tanks remain on leased properties, with future obligations for removal 
and potential environmental remediation. Instances of contamination have been identified in the past, leading to 
remediation costs. This historical legacy presents ongoing environmental risks and potential liabilities under our 
lease agreements and environmental laws. We continue to evaluate and address these risks, recognizing their 
potential impact on our financial condition and operations.

Evolving global climate change regulations and effects of greenhouse gas emissions may adversely affect our 
operations and financial performance.

There is continuing concern from members of the scientific community and the general public that emissions of 
greenhouse gases ("GHG") and other human activities have or will cause significant changes in weather patterns and 
increase the frequency or severity of extreme weather events, including droughts, wildfires and flooding. These 
types of extreme weather events have and may continue to adversely impact us, our suppliers, our customers and 
their ability to purchase our products and our ability to timely receive appropriate raw materials to manufacture and 
transport our products on a timely basis.

Any adverse environmental impact on our locations due to climate change could materially and adversely affect our 
business and the results of our operations. New federal or state legislation or regulations on greenhouse gas 
("GHG") emissions that may be imposed in areas of the United States in which we conduct business and that apply 
to our operations could adversely affect our business.

If such legislation or regulations are enacted, we could incur increased energy, environmental and other costs and 
capital expenditures to comply with the limitations.

We, along with other companies in many business sectors, are considering and implementing sustainability 
strategies, specifically ways to reduce GHG emissions. As a result, our customers may request that changes be made 
to our products or facilities, as well as other aspects of our business, that increase costs and may require the 
investment of capital. Failure to provide climate-friendly products or demonstrate GHG reductions could potentially 
result in loss of market share.

Government regulations, weather conditions including drought and natural hazards may affect the availability of 
water supplies for use at our car wash locations.

Our ability to meet the existing and future water demands at our car wash locations depends on adequate supplies of 
water. Generally, the water used in our car wash locations is sourced from rivers, lakes, streams and groundwater 
aquifers and, in some limited instances, through onsite groundwater wells. As such, we typically do not own the 
water that we use in our operations but instead are dependent on local public and/or private water agencies for most 
of the water used. Accordingly, governmental restrictions on water use may result in decreased access to water 
supplies or to temporary suspension of water usage from time to time.

Climate change, drought, overuse of sources of water, the protection of threatened species or habitats or other 
factors may limit the availability of ground and surface water and our access to water supplies. Ongoing drought 
conditions currently exist in several areas of the United States, particularly in the western states, where we operate. 
Governmental restrictions on water use may also result in decreased access to water supplies, which may adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations. Water service interruptions are also possible due to severe 
weather events, including winter storms and freezing conditions in colder climate locations, high wind conditions in 
areas known to experience tornados, earthquakes in areas known to experience seismic activity, high water 
conditions in areas located in or near designated flood plains, hurricanes, and severe electrical storms.
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Any interruption in our ability to access water could materially and adversely affect the results of our operations and 
financial condition. Furthermore, losses from business interruptions or damage to our facilities might not be covered 
by our insurance policies and such losses may make it difficult for us to secure insurance coverage in the future at 
acceptable rates.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology and Data Privacy

We are subject to data security and privacy risks that could negatively impact our results of operations or 
reputation.

We collect, process, transmit and store personal, sensitive and confidential information, including our proprietary 
business information and that of consumers (including UWC Members), employees and suppliers. The secure 
processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. 

Increased global IT security threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime and increased ransomware 
attacks pose a risk to the security of our computer systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and 
integrity of our data. Despite our security measures, we have been subject to cyber-attacks and attempts in the past 
and our IT systems and infrastructure may continue to be vulnerable to computer viruses, cyber-attacks, security 
breaches caused by employee error or malfeasance or other disruptions in the future. Though no such incident to 
date has had a material impact on our business, we cannot ensure that our security efforts will prevent unauthorized 
access or loss of functionality to our or our third-party providers' systems. Any such incident could compromise our 
networks and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. A security breach of 
our computer systems or those of our third-party service providers and business partners could interrupt or damage 
our operations or harm our reputation, or both. In addition, any such breach, attack, virus or other event could result 
in costly investigations and litigation, government enforcement actions, civil or criminal penalties, fines, operational 
changes or other response measures, loss of consumer confidence in our security measures, and negative publicity 
that could materially and adversely affect our brand, business, results of operations and financial condition. These 
costs and losses may not be adequately covered by applicable insurance coverage or other contractual rights 
available to us.

We must comply with increasingly and complex privacy and security laws and regulations in the United States, 
including the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended, and state data privacy laws that have been enacted to 
date. Although there are limited exemptions for health-related information, including Protected Health Information 
and clinical trial data, the CCPA and other state privacy laws may increase our compliance costs and potential 
liability. Similar laws have been proposed or enacted in other states and at the federal level, and when passed, such 
laws may have potentially conflicting requirements that would make compliance challenging. Our operations are 
subject to the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and similar state laws.

As a general matter, compliance with laws, regulations and any applicable rules or guidance from self-regulatory 
organizations relating to privacy, data protection, information security and consumer protection may result in 
substantial costs and may necessitate changes to our business practices, which may compromise our growth strategy, 
materially and adversely affect our ability to acquire customers and otherwise materially and adversely affect our 
business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may be unable to adequately protect, and we may incur significant costs in enforcing or defending, our 
intellectual property and other proprietary rights.

Our success depends in part on our brand image and our ability to enforce and defend our intellectual property and 
other proprietary rights and differentiate ourselves from our competitors. We rely upon a combination of trademark, 
patent, trade secret, copyright, and unfair competition laws, and other contractual provisions, to protect our 
intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We cannot assure you that the steps we take to protect our 
intellectual property and other proprietary rights will be adequate to prevent the infringement or other violation of 
such rights by others, including the imitation and misappropriation of our brand, which could damage our brand 
identity and the goodwill we have created. To the extent that our intellectual property and other proprietary rights 
are not adequately protected, third parties may challenge, invalidate, circumvent, infringe or misappropriate our 
intellectual property or the intellectual property of our third-party licensors, or such intellectual property may not be 
sufficient to permit us to take advantage of current market trends or otherwise to provide competitive advantages, 
which could result in costly redesign efforts, discontinuance of certain service offerings or other competitive harm. 
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We may have to litigate to enforce or determine the scope and enforceability of our intellectual property rights, 
which is expensive and could exceed applicable insurance coverage, could cause a diversion of resources and may 
not prove successful. The loss of intellectual property protection or the inability to obtain sufficient rights to use 
third-party intellectual property could harm our business and ability to compete.

We may be subject to infringement claims.

Although we believe that our services and operations do not infringe upon or otherwise violate the proprietary rights 
of third parties, we cannot guarantee that we do not, and will not in the future, infringe or otherwise violate the 
proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties have in the past, and may in the future, assert infringement or other 
intellectual property violation claims against us with respect to future products, services or operations. Any claim 
from a third party may result in a limitation on our ability to use our intellectual property. Even if we believe that 
intellectual property related claims are without merit, defending against such claims is time-consuming, expensive 
and could result in the diversion of the time and attention of our management and employees. Claims of intellectual 
property infringement are inherently uncertain, and might require us to redesign affected services, enter into costly 
settlement or license agreements, pay costly damage awards for which we may not have insurance coverage, or face 
a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing or selling certain of our services. Even if we 
have an agreement for indemnification against such costs, the indemnifying party, if any in such circumstances, may 
be unable to uphold its contractual obligations. If we cannot or do not license the infringed technology on reasonable 
terms or substitute similar technology from another source, our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

We are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and may 
rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements.

Leonard Green & Partners, L.P. (“LGP”) has more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors, and, 
as a result, we are considered a “controlled company” for the purposes of the New York Stock Exchange (“the 
NYSE”).  Although we currently comply with the NYSE rules applicable to companies that do not qualify as a 
“controlled company,” as a “controlled company,” in the future we may elect not to comply with certain corporate 
governance standards, including the requirements:

that a majority of our board of directors consist of independent directors;

that our board of directors have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely 
of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities;

that our board of directors have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors 
with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and

for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance committee and 
compensation committee.

For as long as LGP owns more than 50% of our common stock it will be able to exert a controlling influence over all 
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the nomination and election of directors and approval of 
significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our Company or its assets. Even if LGP were to 
own or control less than a majority of our total outstanding shares of common stock, it will be able to influence the 
outcome of corporate actions so long as it owns a significant portion of our total outstanding shares of common 
stock.

LGP may have interests that are different from our other stockholders and may vote in a way with which our other 
stockholders disagree and that may be averse to their respective interests. In addition, LGP’s concentration of 
ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or otherwise discouraging a potential 
acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline 
or prevent our stockholders from realizing a premium over the market price for their common stock.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation could prevent us from benefiting from corporate 
opportunities that might otherwise have been available to us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will, to the maximum extent permitted from time to time by 
Delaware law, renounce any interest or expectancy that we have in, or right to be offered an opportunity to 
participate in, specified business opportunities that are from time to time presented to our officers, directors or 
stockholders or their respective affiliates, other than those officers, directors, stockholders or affiliates who are our 
or our subsidiaries’ employees. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that, to the fullest 
extent permitted by law, none of LGP or any of their affiliates or any director who is not employed by us (including 
any non-employee director who serves as one of our officers in both his director and officer capacities) or his or her 
affiliates will have any duty to refrain from (i) engaging in a corporate opportunity in the same or similar lines of 
business in which we or our affiliates now engage or propose to engage or (ii) otherwise competing with us or our 
affiliates. In addition, to the fullest extent permitted by law, in the event that LGP or any non-employee director 
acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or other business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity 
for itself or himself or its or his affiliates or for us or our affiliates, such person will have no duty to communicate or 
offer such transaction or business opportunity to us or any of our affiliates and they may take any such opportunity 
for themselves or offer it to another person or entity. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will not 
renounce our interest in any business opportunity that is expressly offered to a non-employee director solely in his or 
her capacity as a director or officer of the Company. To the fullest extent permitted by law, no business opportunity 
will be deemed to be a potential corporate opportunity for us unless we would be permitted to undertake the 
opportunity under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we have sufficient financial resources to 
undertake the opportunity and the opportunity would be in line with our business.

As a result of these provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we may not receive the 
benefit from certain corporate opportunities, such as an acquisition target or other extraordinary transaction, that 
might have otherwise been available to us and potentially beneficial to our business.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders 
could cause our stock price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales 
might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital 
through the sale of additional equity securities. 

Moreover, holders of approximately 71% of our outstanding common stock as of the date of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K have rights, pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, to require us to file registration statements for the 
public sale of their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other 
stockholders. A registration statement covering such shares has been filed and has been declared effective. Any sales 
of securities by these stockholders could have a material and adverse effect on the trading price of our common 
stock.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could 
discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may 
prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as well as 
provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), could make it more difficult for a third party to 
acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, including 
transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions include:

establishing a classified Board such that not all members of the Board are elected at one time;

allowing the total number of directors to be determined exclusively (subject to the rights of holders of any 
series of preferred stock to elect additional directors) by resolution of our Board and granting to our Board the 
sole power (subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock or rights granted pursuant to the 
Stockholders’ Agreement) to fill any vacancy on the Board;



18

providing that our stockholders may remove members of our Board only for cause and only by the affirmative 
vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of our then-outstanding stock, following such 
time as LGP ceases to beneficially own, in the aggregate, at least 50% of the voting power of our common 
stock;

authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock by our Board, without further stockholder approval, 
to thwart a takeover attempt;

prohibiting stockholder action by written consent (and, thus, requiring that all stockholder actions be taken at a 
meeting of our stockholders), if LGP ceases to beneficially own, in the aggregate, at least 50% of the voting 
power of our common stock;

eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders, except for LGP for so long as 
LGP beneficially owns, in the aggregate, at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock;

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the Board or for proposing matters 
that can be acted upon at annual stockholder meetings; and

requiring the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all outstanding stock entitled 
to vote thereon, voting together as a single class, to amend or repeal our certificate of incorporation or bylaws 
if LGP ceases to beneficially own, in the aggregate, at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock.

These provisions could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control. They could also 
discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and cause 
us to take corporate actions other than those that stockholders desire.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware or federal district courts of the United States will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of 
lawsuits, which could limit our stockholders' abilities to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or 
our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws require, to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, that (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim 
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders, 
(iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the amended and 
restated certificate of incorporation or the proposed bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against us governed 
by the internal affairs doctrine will have to be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware (or the 
federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware if the Court of 
Chancery in the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction). The amended and restated certificate of incorporation 
and amended and restated bylaws also require that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be 
the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act; 
however, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such provision, and investors cannot waive 
compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Although we believe these 
provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of applicable law in the types of lawsuits 
to which they apply, the provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. 
These provisions would not apply to any suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act 
or any other claim for which the federal courts of the United States have exclusive jurisdiction.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business and we do 
not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the terms of our existing First Lien 
Term Loan and Revolving Commitment restrict our ability to pay dividends, and any additional debt we may incur 
in the future may include similar restrictions. In addition, Delaware law may impose requirements that may restrict 
our ability to pay dividends to holders of our common stock. As a result, stockholders must rely on sales of their 
common stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.



19

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

As a component of our overall risk management system and processes, we have a risk-based cybersecurity program, 
dedicated to protecting our data as well as data belonging to consumers (including UWC Members), employees and 
suppliers. We devote significant resources and utilize a defensive in-depth strategy, with multiple layers of security 
controls to protect the security of our computer systems, software, networks, and other technology assets. Our 
security efforts are designed to preserve the confidentiality, integrity, and continued availability of all information 
we own, or is in our care, and protect against, among other things, cybersecurity attacks by unauthorized parties 
attempting to obtain access to confidential information, destroy data, disrupt or degrade service, sabotage systems, 
or cause other damage. These processes include technical, administrative and physical controls and processes, as 
well as contractual mechanisms to mitigate risk. We also have policies and procedures to oversee and identify the 
cybersecurity risks associated with our use of third-party service providers, including the regular review of SOC 
reports, relevant cyber attestations, and other independent cyber ratings.

Through a combination of governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) resources, we 

proactively monitor IT controls to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 

perform third-party risk management assessments, 

implement processes designed to ensure essential business functions remain available during business 
disruptions,

develop and update incident response plans to address potential weaknesses, and 

maintain cyber incident management and reporting procedures. 

Our systems are periodically the target of directed attacks intended to lead to interruptions and delays in our service 
and operations as well as loss, misuse or theft of personal information (of third parties, employees, and our 
customers) and other data, confidential information or intellectual property. However, to date, we are not aware of 
any incident or cybersecurity risks having a material impact on our business, results of operations or financial 
condition.

Board Oversight and Governance

Our Board recognizes the important role of information security and mitigating cybersecurity and other data security 
threats. While the full Board has overall responsibility for risk oversight, it is supported in this function primarily by 
its committees. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and discussing our policies with respect to risk 
assessment and risk management, including risks related to cybersecurity and other technology issues. The Board 
periodically evaluates our cybersecurity strategy to help ensure its effectiveness. Management provides periodic 
reports to the Audit Committee regarding cybersecurity and other information technology risks, as well as our plans 
to mitigate cybersecurity risks and to respond to any breaches.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease 25,350 and own 27,973 square feet of office space at our corporate headquarters in Tucson, Arizona. As of 
December 31, 2023, we leased 419 locations and owned 55 locations. We also operate 2 locations still owned by 
third-party developers. The chart below provides a breakdown of our operating car wash locations as of 
December 31, 2023:

State Locations
Alabama 13
Arizona 18
California 55
Colorado 9
Florida 78
Georgia 22
Idaho 7
Illinois 1
Iowa 19
Maryland 2
Michigan 29
Minnesota 27
Mississippi 8
Missouri 8
New Mexico 21
Pennsylvania 6
Tennessee 16
Texas 84
Utah 23
Washington 16
Wisconsin 14
Total 476

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subjected from time-to-time to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, including intellectual 
property claims. Some of these claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings involve highly complex issues, and 
often these issues are subject to substantial uncertainties. Accordingly, our potential liability with respect to a large 
portion of such claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings cannot be estimated with certainty. Management, with 
the assistance of legal counsel, periodically reviews the status of each significant matter and assesses potential 
financial exposure. We recognize provisions for claims or pending litigation when we determine that an unfavorable 
outcome is probable, and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncertain nature of 
litigation, the ultimate outcome or actual cost of settlement may materially vary from estimates. If management’s 
estimates prove incorrect, we could incur a charge to earnings which could have a material and adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations, and financial condition. We are not party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable.
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Information About Our Executive Officers

Our executive officers as of February 23, 2024, are as follows:

Name Age Officer Since Position

John Lai 60 2013
Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer

Jedidiah Gold 44 2019 Chief Financial Officer
Mayra Chimienti 40 2022 Chief Operating Officer
Markus Hartmann 60 2022 General Counsel
Mary Porter 53 2023 Chief People Officer
Joseph Matheny 48 2023 Chief Innovation Officer

John Lai: Mr. Lai has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our board of 
directors since June 2013, and previously served as our Vice President of Market Development. Mr. Lai joined 
Mister Car Wash in 2002. Mr. Lai has served as a director at the Southern Arizona Leadership Council since 
December 2019. Mr. Lai received a B.S. from the University of Arizona.

Jed Gold: Mr. Gold has served as our Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer since July 2019. Mr. Gold previously 
served as Senior Director Finance, Assistant Treasurer at Yum Brands, Inc. from May 2016 to July 2019, and as 
Chief Financial Officer MENAPak at KFC Corporation from October 2014 to May 2016. Mr. Gold received an 
M.B.A. in Finance and Accounting from Indiana University and a B.S. in accounting from the University of Utah.

Mayra Chimienti: Effective March 14, 2022, Mayra Chimienti was appointed Chief Operating Officer of the 
Company. Ms. Chimienti had served as our Vice President, Operations Services since July 2017. Ms. Chimienti 
joined the Company in 2007 and previously served as Director of Training & Development from March 2013 to July 
2017.

Markus Hartmann: Effective October 28, 2022, Markus Hartmann was named General Counsel and leads our legal 
function in ethics and compliance, intellectual property and other general corporate legal matters. Mr. Hartmann 
brings over 25 years of experience advising companies on wide-ranging critical corporate initiatives, legal and 
compliance related activities. He began his career as an associate attorney with the law firm Hale & Dorr LLP (now 
WilmerHale) and is a retired Colonel in the Marine Corp Reserve.

Mary Porter:  Effective April 17, 2023, Mary Porter was named our first Chief People Officer. Ms. Porter 
previously served as the Vice President of Human Resources for Nordstrom from January 2018 to April 2023, 
supporting Nordstrom and Nordstrom Rack locations across both US and Canada, a position she achieved as the 
culmination of a 27-year long journey with the company. From HR compliance to Talent Acquisition to strategic 
business support, Ms. Porter has experience across many Human Resources functions. Ms. Porter earned a Bachelor 
of Arts from the University of Washington.

Joseph Matheny: Effective October 13, 2023, Joseph Matheny was appointed Chief Innovation Officer of the 
Company. Mr. Matheny had served as our Senior Vice President, Operations since March 2020. Mr. Matheny 
previously served as our Vice President, Operations from December 2016 to March 2020, and served as our General 
Manager, Regional Manager, and Division Manager since 1998.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has traded on The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), under the symbol “MCW” since our 
initial public offering in June 2021. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of February 15, 2024, there were 1,342 holders of record of our common stock. This number excludes 
stockholders whose stock is held in street name by banks, brokers and other nominees.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and expansion of our business, and, 
therefore, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our share capital in the foreseeable future. Any future 
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of 
operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, restrictions under our Credit Facilities 
and any other agreements governing our indebtedness and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, we did not repurchase any equity securities that were not registered 
under the Securities Act. 

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder return since June 25, 2021, the date our common stock 
began trading on NYSE with S&P 1500 Consumer Services Index, S&P 500 Total Return Index, and Russell 2000 
Index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our stock and in each index was $100 at June 25, 2021, 
and that all dividends were reinvested. 

6/25/21 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23
Mister Car Wash, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 90.00 $ 45.00 $ 43.00
S&P 1500 Consumer Services $ 100.00 $ 105.00 $ 90.00 $ 115.00
S&P 500 Total Return $ 100.00 $ 112.00 $ 92.00 $ 116.00
Russell 2000 $ 100.00 $ 97.00 $ 76.96 $ 89.99
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Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together 
with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs involving 
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking 
statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” or in other 
sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following includes a discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for 2023 and 
2022 and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022. For discussion and analysis of our financial condition 
and results of operations for 2021 and year-to-year comparisons between 2022 and 2021, see Part II, Item 7, 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Factors Affecting Our Business and Trends

We believe that our business and growth depend on a number of factors that present significant opportunities for us 
and may pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Growth in comparable store sales. Comparable store sales have been a driver of our net revenue growth and 
we expect it to continue to play a key role in our future growth and profitability. We will seek to continue to 
grow our comparable store sales by increasing the number of UWC Members, maximizing efficiency and 
throughput of our car wash locations, optimizing marketing spend to add new customers, and increasing 
customer visitation frequency.

Number and loyalty of UWC Members. The UWC program is a critical element of our business. UWC 
Members contribute a significant portion of our net revenue and provide recurring revenue through their 
monthly membership fees. We view the number of UWC Members and the growth in the number of UWC 
Members on a net basis from period to period as key indicators of our revenue growth.

Labor management. Hiring and retaining skilled team members and experienced management represents one 
of our largest costs. We believe people are the key to our success and we have been able to successfully attract 
and retain engaged, high-quality team members by paying competitive wages, offering attractive benefit 
packages, and providing robust training and development opportunities. While the competition for skilled 
labor is intense and subject to high turnover, we believe our approach to wages and benefits will continue to 
allow us to attract suitable team members and management to support our growth.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations

Our results have been affected by, and may in the future be affected by, the following factors, which must be 
understood in order to assess the comparability of our period-to-period financial performance and condition.

Greenfield Location Development

A part of our historical growth strategy has involved acquiring local and regional car wash operators, upgrading the 
facilities and equipment, training the team to provide the “Mister Experience” and converting the site to the “Mister” 
brand. More recently, we have also grown through greenfield development of Mister Car Wash locations, with 
particular focus on Express Exterior Locations, and anticipate continued pursuit of this strategy in the future. During 
2023, we successfully opened a total of 35 greenfield locations, with the expectation of driving the majority of our 
future location growth through greenfield development. We believe such a strategy will drive a more controllable 
pipeline of unit growth for future locations in existing and adjacent markets.

The comparability of our results may be impacted by the inclusion of financial performance of greenfield locations 
that have not delivered a full fiscal year of financial results nor matured to average unit volumes, which we typically 
expect after approximately three full years of operation.
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Business Acquisitions

In 2023, we completed two business acquisitions of six properties.  Following acquisition, we implement a variety 
of operational improvements to unify branding and enhance profitability. As soon as feasible, we fully integrate and 
transition acquired locations to the “Mister” brand and make investments to improve site flow, upgrade tunnel 
equipment and technology, and install our proprietary Unity Chemical system, which is a unique blend of our 
signature products utilizing the newest technology and services to make a better car wash experience for our 
customers. We also establish member-only lanes, optimize service offerings and implement training initiatives that 
we have successfully utilized to improve team member engagement and drive UWC growth post-acquisition. The 
costs associated with these onboarding initiatives, which vary by site, can impact the comparability of our results.

The comparability of our results may also be impacted by the inclusion of financial performance of our acquisitions 
that have not delivered a full fiscal year of financial results under Mister Car Wash’s ownership.

Divestitures

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we did not consummate any significant divestitures.

Key Performance Indicators

We prepare and analyze various operating and financial data to assess the performance of our business and to help in 
the allocation of our resources. The key operating performance and financial metrics and indicators we use are set 
forth below, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022

Financial and Operating Data
Location count (end of period) 476 436
Comparable store sales growth 0.3% 5%
UWC Members (in thousands, end of period) 2,077 1,884
UWC sales as a percentage of total wash sales 71% 68%
Net income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900
Net income (loss) margin 8.6% 12.9%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 285,924 $ 281,646
Adjusted EBITDA margin 30.8% 32.1%

Location Count (end of period)

Our location count refers to the total number of car wash locations operating at the end of a period, inclusive of new 
greenfield locations, acquired locations and offset by closed locations. The total number of locations that we operate, 
as well as the timing of location openings, acquisitions and closings, have, and will continue to have, an impact on 
our performance. In fiscal year 2023, we increased our location count by 40 net locations, including 35 greenfield 
locations and six business acquisition locations, offset by one location that was closed. In fiscal year 2022, we 
increased our location count by 40 locations, including 28 greenfield locations and 12 business acquisition locations. 
One location, which was part of a 2021 acquisition, opened during the second quarter of 2022 and is included as an 
acquired location above. 

Comparable Store Sales Growth

A location is considered a comparable store on the first day of the 13th full calendar month following a location’s 
first day of operations. A location converted from an Interior Cleaning Location format to an Express Exterior 
Location format is excluded when the location did not offer interior cleaning services in the current period but did 
offer interior cleaning services in the prior year period. Comparable store sales growth is the percentage change in 
total wash sales of all comparable store car washes.

Opening new locations is a component of our growth strategy and as we continue to execute on our growth strategy, 
we expect that a significant portion of our sales growth will be attributable to non-comparable store sales. 
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Accordingly, comparable store sales are only one measure we use to assess the success of our growth strategy. 
During 2023, comparable store sales increased 0.3% compared to an increase of 5% in 2022. 

UWC Members (end of period)

Members of our monthly subscription service are known as Unlimited Wash Club Members, or UWC Members. We 
view the number of UWC Members and the growth in the number of UWC Members on a net basis from period to 
period as key indicators of our revenue growth. The number of UWC Members has grown over time as we have 
acquired new customers and retained previously acquired customers. There were approximately 2.1 million and 
approximately 1.9 million UWC Members as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Our UWC program 
grew by approximately 0.2 million UWC Members, or approximately 10.2%, from December 31, 2022 to 
December 31, 2023. 

UWC Sales as a Percentage of Total Wash Sales

UWC sales as a percentage of total wash sales represent the penetration of our subscription membership program as 
a percentage of our overall wash sales. Total wash sales are defined as the net revenue generated from express 
exterior cleaning services and interior cleaning services for both UWC Members and retail customers. UWC sales as 
a percentage of total wash sales is calculated as sales generated from UWC Members as a percentage of total wash 
sales. We have consistently grown this measure over time as we educate customers as to the value of our 
subscription offering. UWC sales were 71% and 68% of our total wash sales for the years ended December 31, 
2023, and 2022, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of our operating performance and should not be considered as an 
alternative to net income as a measure of financial performance or any other performance measure derived in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). Adjusted 
EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, income tax provision (benefit), depreciation 
and amortization expense, (gain) loss on sale of assets, loss on extinguishment of debt, stock-based compensation 
expense, acquisition expenses, management fees, non-cash rent expense, expenses associated with the completion of 
our initial public offering in June 2021 ("the IPO"), expenses associated with the secondary public offering, and 
other nonrecurring charges. Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net revenues for a 
given period.

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our operating 
performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative 
of our ongoing operating performance. You are encouraged to evaluate these adjustments and the reasons we 
consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in 
the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in our presentation of 
Adjusted EBITDA. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future 
results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. There can be no assurance that we will not modify the 
presentation of Adjusted EBITDA in future periods, and any such modification may be material. In addition, 
Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies in our industry or 
across different industries.

Our management believes Adjusted EBITDA is helpful in highlighting trends in our core operating performance 
compared to other measures, which can differ significantly depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding 
capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and capital investments. We also use Adjusted 
EBITDA in connection with establishing discretionary annual incentive compensation; to supplement U.S. GAAP 
measures of performance in the evaluation of the effectiveness of our business strategies; to make budgeting 
decisions; and because our Amended First Lien Credit Agreement (as defined below) uses measures similar to 
Adjusted EBITDA to measure our compliance with certain covenants.

Adjusted EBITDA has its limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a 
substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations include:

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditure or future requirements for capital expenditures or 
contractual commitments;
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Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in our cash requirements for our working capital needs;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense and the cash requirements necessary to service interest 
or principal payments on our debt;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requirements for replacement of assets that are being depreciated and 
amortized;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect non-cash compensation, which is a key element of our overall long-term 
compensation;

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact of certain cash charges or cash receipts resulting from matters 
we do not find indicative of our ongoing operations; and

other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do.

Our Adjusted EBITDA was approximately $285.9 million and $281.6 million for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. Our Adjusted EBITDA margin was 31% and 32% for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively.  The increase experienced in the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior 
year is primarily attributable to an increase in car wash sales due to growth in UWC Members and the year-over-
year addition of 40 net locations, offset by an increase in operating costs and expenses. The following is a 
reconciliation of our net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA:
Net income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900
Interest expense, net 75,104 41,895
Income tax provision 22,911 32,924
Depreciation and amortization expense 69,991 61,580
(Gain) loss on sale of assets, net (a) 125 (949)
Stock-based compensation expense (b) 24,310 22,305
Acquisition expenses (c) 3,471 3,648
Non-cash rent expense (d) 5,043 2,792
Expenses associated with initial public offering (e) — 272
Other (f) 4,839 4,279

Adjusted EBITDA $ 285,924 $ 281,646
Net revenues $ 927,070 $ 876,506
Adjusted EBITDA margin 30.8% 32.1%

(a) Consists of (gains) and losses on the disposition of assets associated with sale leaseback transactions, store 
closures or the sale of property and equipment. 

(b) Represents non-cash expense associated with our share-based payments as well as related taxes.
(c) Represents expenses incurred in strategic acquisitions, including professional fees for accounting and auditing 

services, appraisals, legal fees and financial services, one-time costs associated with supplies for rebranding 
the acquired stores, and distinct travel expenses for related, distinct integration efforts by team members who 
are not part of our dedicated integration team, as well as expenses associated with greenfield construction.

(d) Represents the difference between cash paid for rent expense and U.S. GAAP rent expense.
(e) Represents nonrecurring expenses associated with the consummation of our initial public offering in June 

2021.
(f) Consists of other items as determined by management not to be reflective of our ongoing operating 

performance, such as costs associated with severance pay, non-deferred legal fees and other expenses related 
to credit agreement amendments, legal settlements and legal fees related to contract terminations, and 
nonrecurring strategic project costs.
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Results of Operations

The results of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 have been derived from the 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

(Dollars in thousands) Amount
% of

Revenue Amount
% of

Revenue

Net revenues $ 927,070 100% $ 876,506 100%
Store operating costs:
Cost of labor and chemicals 279,375 30% 268,467 31%
Other store operating expenses 363,717 39% 322,414 37%
General and administrative 105,708 11% 98,855 11%
(Gain) loss on sale of assets, net 125 0% (949) (0)%
Total costs and expenses 748,925 81% 688,787 79%

Operating income 178,145 19% 187,719 21%
Other expense:
Interest expense, net 75,104 8% 41,895 5%
Total other expense 75,104 8% 41,895 5%
Income before taxes 103,041 11% 145,824 17%
Income tax provision 22,911 2% 32,924 4%
Net income $ 80,130 9% $ 112,900 13%

Net Revenues

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Net revenues $ 927,070 $ 876,506 $ 50,564 6%

The increase in net revenues was primarily attributable to the increase in car wash sales due to growth in UWC 
Members and the year-over-year addition of 40 net locations.

Store Operating Costs

Cost of Labor and Chemicals

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Cost of labor and chemicals $ 279,375 $ 268,467 $ 10,908 4%
Percentage of net revenues 30% 31%

The increase in the cost of labor and chemicals is primarily driven by an increase in labor and benefits of 
approximately $9.1 million and an increase in wash chemicals and supplies of approximately $1.8 million during the 
year ended December 31, 2023, both attributable to an increase in volume and the year-over-year addition of 40 net 
locations, as well as some inflationary pressures on both our labor and chemicals. As a percentage of net revenues, 
costs of labor and chemicals for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased by 1% due to improved labor staffing 
and volume mix as compared to the prior year period.
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Other Store Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Other store operating expenses $ 363,717 $ 322,414 $ 41,303 13%
Percentage of net revenues 39% 37%

The increase in other store operating expenses was primarily attributable to the year-over-year addition of 40 net 
locations. Utilities and maintenance expenses increased approximately $14.7 million, depreciation expense 
increased approximately $8.6 million and rent expense increased approximately $14.5 million with the addition of 
47 new land and building leases.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

General and administrative $ 105,708 $ 98,855 $ 6,853 7%
Percentage of net revenues 11% 11%

The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily driven by an increase of approximately $3.2 
million in salaries and benefits, an increase of approximately $1.4 million in stock-based compensation expense and 
related taxes, an increase of $1.8 million in marketing expenses and an increase of approximately $0.5 million in 
other corporate-related costs. 

(Gain) Loss on Sale of Assets, net

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

(Gain) loss on sale of assets, net $ 125 $ (949) $ 1,074 (113)%
Percentage of net revenues 0% (0)%

The (gain) loss on sale of assets, net in 2023 was primarily driven by losses associated with our sale-leaseback 
transactions.

Other Expense

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Other expense $ 75,104 $ 41,895 $ 33,209 79%
Percentage of net revenues 8% 5%

The increase in other expense was primarily driven by an increase in interest expense due to higher average interest 
rates and the expiration of our interest rate swap in October 2022, as compared to the prior year period.

Income Tax Provision

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Income tax provision $ 22,911 $ 32,924 $ (10,013) (30)%
Percentage of net revenues 2% 4%

The decrease in income tax provision in 2023 was primarily due to our income before taxes generated during the 
current year, which was lower than in 2022. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Funding Requirements

Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are to fund our investments in our core business, which includes 
lease payments, pursue greenfield expansion, acquisitions of new locations and to service our indebtedness. 
Historically, these cash requirements have been met through funds raised by the sale of common equity, utilization 
of our Revolving Commitment, First Lien Term Loan, sale-leaseback transactions and cash provided by operations. 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $19.0 million and $65.2 million, 
respectively, and $149.2 million and $148.6 million, respectively, of available borrowing capacity under our 
Revolving Commitment. On June 4, 2021, we entered into an amendment to our amended and restated First Lien 
Credit Agreement to, among other things, increase the commitments under the Revolving Commitment from $75.0 
million to $150.0 million.  In December 2021, in connection with the Clean Streak Ventures acquisition, we entered 
into Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement (“Amended First Lien Credit 
Agreement”) increasing the principal term loan borrowings by $290 million to $903 million. For a description of our 
Credit Facilities, please see Note 9 Debt in the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants under our Credit 
Facilities and we expect to comply with our covenants in the next 12 months from the issuance date of the financial 
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We believe that our sources of liquidity and capital will be sufficient to finance our growth strategy and resulting 
operations, as well as planned capital expenditures, for the next 12 months. However, we cannot assure you that 
cash provided by operating activities or cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our future needs. If we 
are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future, we may have to obtain additional 
financing. If we obtain additional capital by issuing equity, the interests of our existing stockholders will be diluted. 
If we incur additional indebtedness, that indebtedness may contain significant financial and other covenants that 
may significantly restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that we could obtain additional financing on 
favorable terms or at all.

Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table shows summary cash flow information for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2023 2022

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 204,653 $ 229,201
Net cash used in investing activities (259,365) (190,131)
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,609 6,294

Net change in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash during period $ (46,103) $ 45,364

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities consists of net income (loss) adjusted for certain non-cash 
items, including stock-based compensation expense, depreciation of property and equipment, amortization of leased 
assets and deferred income taxes, as well as (gain) losses on disposal of property and equipment and the effect of 
changes in other working capital amounts.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by operating activities was $204.7 million and was 
comprised of net income of $80.1 million, increased by $159.0 million related to non-cash adjustments, which 
includes $24.0 million for stock-based compensation expense. Other non-cash adjustments included depreciation 
and amortization, non-cash lease expense, and deferred income tax. Changes in working capital decreased cash 
provided by operating activities by $34.5 million, primarily due to $40.4 million of payments towards operating 
lease liabilities, partially offset by an increase of $6.1 million in accrued expenses.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by operating activities was $229.2 million and was 
comprised of net income of $112.9 million, increased by $154.8 million related to non-cash adjustments, which 
includes $22.3 million for stock-based compensation expense. Other non-cash adjustments included depreciation 
and amortization, non-cash interest income and deferred income tax. Changes in working capital decreased cash 
provided by operating activities by $38.5 million, primarily due to $42.7 million of payments towards operating 
lease liabilities and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $4.3 million. The change in other 
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receivables was primarily driven by the collection of payroll tax withholding and exercise proceeds receivables 
outstanding in the prior year, partially offset by increases in construction receivables associated with an increased 
number of build-to-suit arrangements and insurance receivables.

Investing Activities. Our net cash used in investing activities primarily consists of purchases and sale of property and 
equipment and acquisition of car washes.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in investing activities was $259.4 million and was primarily 
comprised of purchases in property and equipment to support our greenfield and other initiatives, and the acquisition 
of car washes, partially offset by sale-leaseback transactions and the sale of property and equipment.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in investing activities was $190.1 million and was primarily 
comprised of purchases in property and equipment to support our greenfield and other initiatives, and the acquisition 
of car washes, partially offset by sale-leaseback transactions and the sale of property and equipment.

Financing Activities. Our net cash provided by financing activities primarily consists of proceeds from issuance of 
common stock under employee plans and payments on finance lease obligations.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was $8.6 million and was primarily 
comprised of proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee plans, partially offset by payments of 
finance lease obligations and other financing activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities was $6.3 million and was primarily 
comprised of proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee plans, partially offset by payments of long-
term debt and finance lease obligations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these 
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition, 
goodwill and other intangible assets, income taxes and stock-based compensation. We base our estimates on 
historical experience, current developments and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under 
these circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that cannot readily be determined from other sources. There can be no assurance that actual results will not 
differ from those estimates.

See Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for a description of our other significant accounting policies. We believe that 
the following critical accounting policies are affected by significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation 
of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Under ASC 606, 
revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services or goods to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration we expect to receive for those services or goods. We have two primary sources of revenue. First, 
we offer the UWC program to our customers. UWC entitles a UWC Member to unlimited washes for a monthly fee, 
cancelable at any time. UWC Members are automatically charged on a credit or debit card on the same day of the 
month that they originally signed up. The UWC revenue is recognized ratably over the month in which it is earned 
and amounts unearned are recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets based on the date of the 
re-charge. Second, the revenue from car wash services is recognized at the point in time services are rendered and 
the customer pays. Discounts are applied as a reduction of revenue at the time of payment.

The timing of recognition does not require significant judgment as it is based on the UWC monthly charge and 
deferral or the date of car wash sale, none of which require a significant amount of estimation. However, in 
determining the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers, we make judgments as to whether 
uncertainty as to collectability of the consideration that we are owed precludes recognition of the revenue on an 
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accrual basis. These judgments are based on the facts specific to each circumstance. Primary factors considered 
include past payment history and our subjective assessment of the likelihood of receiving payment in the future.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If 
circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, we first compare 
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying amount. If the carrying 
amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment 
is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined using various 
valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent 
appraisals, as considered necessary. No impairment losses associated with our long-lived assets were recognized 
during the year ended December 31, 2023. Approximately $6.3 million of impairment losses associated with our 
long-lived assets were recognized for the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 4 for additional information.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level annually on 
October 31 or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. We 
first assess qualitative factors to determine whether events or circumstances existed that would lead us to conclude it 
is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is below its carrying amount. If we determine that it is 
more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is below the carrying amount, a quantitative goodwill 
assessment is required. In the quantitative evaluation, the fair value of the reporting unit is determined and compared 
to the carrying value. If the fair value is greater than the carrying value, then the carrying value is deemed to be 
recoverable and no further action is required. If the fair value estimate is less than the carrying value, goodwill is 
considered impaired for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value and a 
charge is reported as impairment of goodwill in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss). No impairment losses associated with our goodwill were recognized during the years ended 
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. 
We classify all deferred income tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent on our balance sheet. The effect of a change 
in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized within the provision for (benefit from) income taxes 
on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) in the period that includes the 
enactment date.

We reduce deferred tax assets, if necessary, by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that we will not 
realize some or all of the deferred tax assets. In making such a determination, we consider all available positive and 
negative evidence, including taxable income in prior carryback years (if carryback is permitted under the relevant 
tax law), the timing of the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and projected 
future taxable income. We believe it is more likely than not that our federal deferred tax assets will be realized in the 
future based primarily on the timing and reversal of existing taxable temporary differences in that jurisdiction.  
However, we determined that an amount of our state deferred tax assets is not more likely than not to be realized in 
the future based primarily on projected future taxable income available in various jurisdictions. Refer to Note 8 
Income Taxes in our consolidated financial statements and for additional information on the composition of these 
valuation allowances and for information on the impact of U.S. tax reform legislation. 

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions and believe our accrual for tax liabilities is 
adequate for all open audit years based on many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law. We 
recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position if we believe it is more likely than not that the tax position 
will be sustained, in a court of last resort, based on the technical merits of the position. This assessment relies on 
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estimates and assumptions and any changes in the recognition or measurement of these benefits or liabilities are 
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions within income tax provision (benefit) on our 
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to employees. We measure 
stock-based compensation cost at grant date, based upon the estimated fair value of the award, and recognize cost as 
expense using the accelerate attribution method over the employee requisite service period. We estimate the fair 
value of stock options using Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo option models.  We estimate the fair value of stock 
purchase rights using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Restricted stock units are classified as equity and 
measured at the fair market value of the underlying stock at the grant date. Upon termination unvested time and 
performance-based options, stock-purchase rights, and restricted stock units are forfeited. We have made a policy 
election to estimate the number of stock-based compensation awards that are expected to vest to determine the 
amount of compensation expense recognized in earnings. Forfeiture estimates are revised if subsequent information 
indicates that the actual number of forfeitures is likely to differ from previous estimates.

We record deferred tax assets for awards that result in deductions in our income tax returns, based upon the amount 
of compensation cost recognized and our statutory tax rate. The tax effect of differences between the compensation 
cost of an award recognized for financial reporting purposes and the deduction for an award for tax purposes is 
recognized as an income tax expense or benefit in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss) in the period in which the tax deduction arises.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the sections titled “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Recent Accounting Pronouncements” and “—
Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted” in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and inflation. All these market risks arise in the normal 
course of business, as we do not engage in speculative trading activities. The following analysis provides 
quantitative information regarding these risks.

Interest Rate Risk

Our First Lien Term Loan bears interest at variable rates, which exposes us to market risks relating to changes in 
interest rates. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive due to many factors, including U.S. monetary and tax policies, 
U.S. and international economic factors and other factors beyond our control. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
we had $901.2 million of variable-rate debt outstanding under our First Lien Term Loan. Based on the balance 
outstanding under our First Lien Term Loan as of December 31, 2023, an increase or decrease of 100 basis points in 
the effective interest rate on the First Lien Term Loan would cause an increase or decrease in interest expense of 
approximately $9 million over the next 12 months.

Impact of Inflation

Our results of operations and financial condition are presented based on historical cost. While it is difficult to 
accurately measure the impact of inflation due to the imprecise nature of the estimates required, we have recently 
experienced the effects of inflation on our results of operations and financial condition. In light of the current 
inflationary market conditions, we cannot assure you that our results of operations and financial condition will not 
be materially impacted by inflation in the future.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Mister Car Wash, Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mister Car Wash, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2024, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter   

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to 
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, 
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, 
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenues — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company recognizes revenues in two main streams: (1) revenues recognized ratably daily over the month in 
which it is earned with their subscription membership Unlimited Wash Club program which entitles the customer to 
unlimited washes for a monthly fee, cancelable at any time, and (2) revenues recognized at a point in time from car 
washes. The Company’s revenue recognition process utilizes point-of-sale systems for the initiating, processing, and 
recording of transactions.  We identified the recognition of revenues as a critical audit matter because performing 
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audit procedures to test the recognition of revenues required significant audit effort, including the involvement of 
data analytics specialists, given the Company’s high volume of individually low monetary value transactions.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the testing of the recognition of revenues included the following, among others: 

We tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls over the Company’s recognition of revenues.

With the assistance of our data analytics specialists, we extracted journal entries to analyze the 
Company’s revenue transactions.

We reconciled recorded revenues and credit card receivables to cash receipts per the bank. 

We selected a sample of revenue transactions and agreed the amounts recognized to source documents, 
then tested the mathematical accuracy and the timing of the recorded revenues. 

We developed an independent expectation of deferred revenue and compared it to the recorded balance.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Tempe, Arizona 
February 23, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018. 
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Mister Car Wash, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of
 (Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,047 $ 65,152
Restricted cash 72 70
Accounts receivable, net 6,304 3,941
Other receivables 14,714 15,182
Inventory, net 8,952 9,174
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,805 12,618

Total current assets 60,894 106,137

Property and equipment, net 725,121 560,874
Operating lease right of use assets, net 833,547 776,689
Other intangible assets, net 117,667 123,615
Goodwill 1,134,734 1,109,815
Other assets 9,573 9,102
Total assets $ 2,881,536 $ 2,686,232

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 33,641 $ 25,649
Accrued payroll and related expenses 19,771 17,218
Other accrued expenses 38,738 41,196
Current maturities of operating lease liability 43,979 40,367
Current maturities of finance lease liability 746 668
Deferred revenue 32,686 29,395

Total current liabilities 169,561 154,493

Long-term debt, net 897,424 895,830
Operating lease liability 809,409 759,775
Financing lease liability 14,033 14,779
Long-term deferred tax liabilities 71,657 53,395
Other long-term liabilities 4,417 6,832
Total liabilities 1,966,501 1,885,104

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized,
   315,192,401 and 306,626,530 shares outstanding as of
   December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 3,157 3,072
Additional paid-in capital 817,271 783,579
Accumulated other comprehensive income — —
Retained earnings 94,607 14,477

Total stockholders’ equity 915,035 801,128
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,881,536 $ 2,686,232

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Mister Car Wash, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Year Ended December 31,
 (Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 2023 2022 2021

Net revenues $ 927,070 $ 876,506 $ 758,357
Cost of labor and chemicals 279,375 268,467 265,171
Other store operating expenses 363,717 322,414 266,069
General and administrative 105,708 98,855 254,815
(Gain) loss on sale of assets, net 125 (949) (23,188)
Total costs and expenses 748,925 688,787 762,867
   Operating income (loss) 178,145 187,719 (4,510)

Other expense:
Interest expense, net 75,104 41,895 39,424
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 3,204
Total other expense 75,104 41,895 42,628
Income (loss) before taxes 103,041 145,824 (47,138)
Income tax provision (benefit) 22,911 32,924 (25,093)
Net income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900 $ (22,045)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Gain on interest rate swap — — 1,342
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900 $ (20,703)

Net income (loss) per share:
     Basic $ 0.26 $ 0.37 $ (0.08)

     Diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.34 $ (0.08)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
     Basic 311,035,122 303,372,095 280,215,579
     Diluted 328,239,604 327,560,407 280,215,579

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Mister Car Wash, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 Year Ended December 31,
(Amounts in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900 $ (22,045)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 69,991 61,580 50,559
Stock-based compensation expense 24,001 22,305 216,579
(Gain) loss on sale of assets, net 125 (949) (23,188)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 3,204
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 1,698 1,698 1,155
Non-cash lease expense 45,084 41,099 36,005
Non-cash interest income — (302) —
Deferred income tax 18,137 29,382 (27,330)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (2,363) (2,668) 540
Other receivables 960 7,640 (17,956)
Inventory, net 357 (2,661) 540
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 810 (4,324) (3,531)
Accounts payable (113) 5,633 1,827
Accrued expenses 6,065 2,387 (6,336)
Deferred revenue 3,195 1,129 1,697
Operating lease liability (40,434) (42,637) (34,266)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities (2,990) (3,011) (4,100)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 204,653 $ 229,201 $ 173,354

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (328,124) (191,615) (125,764)
Acquisition of car wash operations, net of cash (51,218) (86,703) (514,003)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 119,977 88,187 95,935

Net cash used in investing activities $ (259,365) $ (190,131) $ (543,832)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to initial public offering — — 468,750
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee plans 9,777 8,971 4,972
Payments for repurchases of common stock — — (308)
Proceeds from secondary public offering for employee tax withholdings — — 20,859
Tax withholdings paid on behalf of employees for secondary public offering — — (20,859)
Proceeds from debt borrowings — — 290,000
Payments on debt borrowings — (2,100) (456,972)
Payments of debt extinguishment costs — — (28)
Payments of deferred debt issuance costs — — (4,263)
Principal payments on finance lease obligations (668) (577) (495)
Payments of issuance costs pursuant to initial public offering — — (29,194)
Other financing activities (500) — —

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 8,609 $ 6,294 $ 272,462

Net change in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash during period (46,103) 45,364 (98,016)
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 65,222 19,858 117,874
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 19,119 $ 65,222 $ 19,858

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 75,737 $ 40,605 $ 39,126
Cash paid for income taxes $ 4,221 $ 2,221 $ 8,889
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment in accounts payable $ 17,907 $ 9,816 $ 17,280
Property and equipment accrued in other accrued expenses $ 13,303 $ 18,772 $ -
Stock option exercise proceeds in other receivables $ - $ 25 $ 582

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Mister Car Wash, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

Common Stock

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Retained 
Earnings 

(Accumulated 
Deficit)

Stockholders’ 
Equity

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per 
share data)

Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2020 261,907,622 $ 2,622 $ 91,523 $ (1,117) $ (76,378) $ 16,650
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
   initial public offering, net of
   issuance costs of $29,194 31,250,000 313 439,243 — — 439,556
Stock-based compensation expense — — 216,579 — — 216,579
Vesting of restricted stock units 7,680 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock under 
employee plans 7,289,354 72 7,758 — — 7,830
Shares repurchased (334,205) — (2,760) — — (2,760)
Gain on interest rate swap — — — 1,342 — 1,342
Net loss — — — — (22,045) (22,045)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 300,120,451 $ 3,007 $ 752,343 $ 225 $ (98,423) $ 657,152
Stock-based compensation expense — — 22,305 — — 22,305
Issuance of common stock under 
employee plans 463,038 4 4,219 — — 4,223
Vesting of restricted stock units 517,422 6 (6) — — —
Exercise of stock options 5,525,619 55 4,718 — — 4,773
Change in interest rate swap — — — (225) — (225)
Net income — — — — 112,900 112,900

Balance as of December 31, 2022 306,626,530 $ 3,072 $ 783,579 $ — $ 14,477 $ 801,128
Stock-based compensation expense — — 24,001 — — 24,001
Issuance of common stock under 
employee plans 434,952 4 2,993 — — 2,997
Vesting of restricted stock units 694,100 7 (7) — — —
Exercise of stock options 7,436,819 74 6,705 — — 6,779
Net income — — — — 80,130 80,130

Balance as of December 31, 2023 315,192,401 $ 3,157 $ 817,271 $ — $ 94,607 $ 915,035

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Mister Car Wash, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. Nature of Business

Mister Car Wash, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, "we," "us," "our" or the 
"Company"), is based in Tucson, Arizona and is a provider of conveyorized car wash services. As of December 31, 
2023, we operated 476 car washes in 21 states. As of December 31, 2022, we operated 436 car washes in 21 states.

Forward Stock Split

In June 2021, our board of directors (the "Board") and the stockholders of the Company approved a 96-for-1 
forward stock split of the Company’s outstanding common stock, which was effected on June 16, 2021. All common 
stock and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to give effect to this forward stock split for all 
periods presented. Shares of common stock underlying outstanding stock options and other equity instruments were 
proportionately increased and the respective per share value and exercise prices, if applicable, were proportionately 
decreased in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such securities. There were no changes to the 
par value per share of the Company’s common stock as a result of the forward stock split. Additionally, the Board 
and the stockholders of the Company approved an increase in the authorized shares of common stock to 
1,000,000,000 shares.

Initial Public Offering

In June 2021, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 43,125,000 shares of common stock at a public 
offering price of $15.00 per share. We sold 31,250,000 shares of common stock and the selling stockholders 
identified in our final prospectus that forms a part of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-256697), 
filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on June 28, 2021 (the “Prospectus”), sold an aggregate amount of 
11,875,000 shares of common stock, which selling stockholder amount included the underwriters' option to purchase 
up to an additional 5,625,000 shares of common stock. We received gross proceeds of approximately $468,750 
before deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering related issuance costs; we did not receive any 
proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders. The consolidated financial statements, including share 
and per share amounts, include the effects of the IPO.

Secondary Public Offering

In August 2021, we completed a secondary public offering of 12,000,000 shares of common stock sold by the 
selling stockholders identified in our final prospectus that forms a part of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 
(File No. 333-258186), filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(5) on August 24, 2021. We did not receive any 
proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders, and we incurred $498 of expenses in connection with 
the secondary public offering, which were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company. All material 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segment Disclosure

We have determined that there is one reportable segment, with activities related to providing car wash services. The 
car wash locations are geographically diversified and have similar economic characteristics and nature of services. 
Our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer and therefore only one measure of 
profit or loss and assets are used in deciding how to allocate resources and measure performance.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
periods reported. Some of the significant estimates that we have made pertain to the determination of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities; estimates utilized to determine the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 
business combinations and the related goodwill and intangibles; and certain assumptions used related to the 
evaluation of goodwill, intangibles, and property and equipment asset impairment. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. We 
place our temporary cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions. At times, such investments may 
exceed federally insured limits; however, management does not believe we are exposed to any significant credit risk 
on counter party cash and cash equivalents.

On occasion, we are required to maintain restricted cash deposits with certain banks due to contractual or other legal 
obligations. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $72 and $70, respectively, in restricted cash set aside for the 
funding of various maintenance expenses.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable include amounts due for consumer credit card sales and other trade accounts receivable. 
Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts and writes off trade receivables when deemed 
uncollectible on a specific customer identification basis. Recoveries of trade receivables previously written off are 
recorded when received. Accounts receivable are presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $68 and 
$76 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was 
immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Other Receivables 

Other receivables consist primarily of payroll tax withholding and exercise proceeds receivables, construction 
receivables and insurance receivable from non-healthcare related insurance claims.

We record payroll tax withholding and exercise proceeds receivable for amounts due to us from a third-party broker 
for amounts used to cover tax liability and exercise proceeds resulting from employee exercises of share-based 
payment awards. 

For certain build-to-suit lease arrangements, we are responsible for the construction of a lessor owned facility using 
our designs. As construction occurs, we will recognize a construction receivable on the consolidated balance sheets 
due from the lessor. To the extent costs exceed the amount to be reimbursed by the lessor, we will consider such 
costs prepaid rent, which are added to the associated operating lease right of use asset once the lease commences. 

We carry a broad range of insurance coverage, including general and business auto liability, commercial property, 
workers’ compensation, cyber risk, and general umbrella policies. We record receivables from our non-healthcare 
insurance carriers related to these insurance claims, which are included in other receivables. The receivables are paid 
when the claim is finalized and the reserved amounts on these claims are expected to be paid within one year.

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Payroll tax withholding and exercise proceeds receivable $ — $ 273
Construction receivable 6,480 6,199
Income tax receivable 3,051 4,387
Insurance receivable 3,686 2,627
Other 1,497 1,696
    Total other receivables $ 14,714 $ 15,182
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Inventory, Net

Inventory, net consists primarily of chemical washing solutions and is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable 
value using the average cost method. The activity in the reserve for obsolescence accounts was immaterial for the 
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Inventory for the periods presented is as follows:

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Chemical washing solutions $ 9,135 $ 9,357
Reserve for obsolescence (183) (183)
    Total inventory, net $ 8,952 $ 9,174

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment purchased are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Assets acquired in business 
combinations are recorded at fair value. Depreciation and amortization are recorded using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the property or related lease term. Amortization of assets under finance leases is 
included in depreciation expense. Estimated useful lives range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and leasehold 
improvements, and from 3 to 7 years for machinery and equipment.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and 
betterments that extend the useful lives of existing equipment are capitalized.

For items that are disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any 
resulting gain or loss is recognized as (gain) loss on sale of assets, net in the accompanying consolidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The carrying value of long-lived assets held and used is periodically reviewed for possible impairment when events 
and circumstances warrant such a review.

Other Intangible Assets, Net and Goodwill

We classify intangible assets into three categories: (1) intangible assets with definite lives subject to amortization, 
(2) intangible assets with indefinite lives not subject to amortization and (3) goodwill. The useful lives of our 
identifiable intangible assets are determined after considering the specific facts and circumstances related to each 
intangible asset. The following factors are considered when determining useful lives: the contractual term of any 
agreement related to the asset, the historical performance of the asset, our long-term strategy for using the asset, any 
laws or other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset, and other economic factors, including 
competition and specific market conditions.

Intangible assets that are deemed to have definite lives are amortized, primarily on a straight-line basis, over their 
useful lives, generally ranging from 2 to 10 years. When facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 
definite-lived intangible assets may not be recoverable, management assesses the recoverability of the carrying value 
by preparing estimates of sales volume and the resulting profit and cash flows expected to result from the use of the 
asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and 
without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount, we will recognize an impairment loss. The impairment 
loss recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset or asset group exceeds the fair value. We 
use a variety of methodologies to determine the fair value of these assets, including discounted cash flow models, 
which are consistent with the assumptions hypothetical marketplace participants would use.

Intangible assets determined to have indefinite useful lives, including trade names and trademarks, are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that assets might be impaired. A variety 
of methodologies are used in conducting impairment assessments of indefinite-lived intangible assets, including, but 
not limited to, discounted cash flow models, which are based on the assumptions we believe hypothetical 
marketplace participants would use. For indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than goodwill, if the carrying 
amount exceeds the fair value, an impairment charge is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. We have the 
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option to perform a qualitative assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than goodwill, rather than 
completing the impairment test. We must assess whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the 
intangible asset is less than its carrying amount. If we conclude that this is the case, we must perform the testing 
described above. Otherwise, we do not need to perform any further assessment. We completed our indefinite-life 
intangible asset impairment analysis as of October 31, 2023 and 2022 and concluded that it was not more likely than 
not that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable.

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit-level on an annual basis (or more frequently if events or 
circumstances indicate that the related carrying amount may be impaired). We evaluate qualitative factors to 
determine if performing the quantitative impairment test is required. If it is determined that it is more likely than not, 
as defined in the guidance, that the carrying value is less than the fair value, the potential for goodwill impairment is 
evaluated and the amount of impairment loss, if any, is measured and recognized. If we determine that it is not more 
likely than not that the carrying value is less than the fair value, no further evaluation is performed. We completed 
our goodwill impairment test as of October 31, 2023 and 2022 and concluded that it is not more likely than not that 
the carrying value is less than the fair value, and therefore, no further evaluation was performed.

Deferred Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability are presented in the consolidated balance sheets as a direct 
deduction from the carrying value of the related liability except for debt issuance costs related to our Revolving 
Commitment arrangement. In the case of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any 
outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement, related debt issuance costs are presented in other assets in 
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The direct costs associated with the funding of long-term debt are amortized to interest expense over the term of the 
applicable loan. 

Derivative Financial Instruments

We had a pay fixed, receive variable interest rate swap contract (“Swap”) to manage our exposure to changes in 
interest rates. The Swap was recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Swap was a cash flow 
hedge and was recorded using hedge accounting, as such, changes in the fair value of the Swap were recorded in 
other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax until the hedged item was recognized in earnings. Amounts reported 
in other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax related to the Swap were reclassified to interest expense as interest 
payments were made on our variable-rate debt.

We assess, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative used as a hedging 
instrument is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the cash flow of the hedged item. If it is determined that 
the derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or ceases to be highly effective, we will discontinue hedge 
accounting prospectively. See Note 11 Interest Rate Swap for additional information.

Leases

We determine if a contract contains a lease at inception. Our material operating leases consist of car wash locations, 
warehouses and office space. U.S. GAAP requires that our leases be evaluated and classified as operating or finance 
leases for financial reporting purposes. The classification evaluation begins at the commencement date, and the lease 
term used in the evaluation includes the non-cancelable period for which we have the right to use the underlying 
asset, together with renewal option periods when the exercise of the renewal option is reasonably certain and failure 
to exercise such option would result in an economic penalty. Nearly all of our car wash and office space leases are 
classified as operating leases.
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We disburse cash for leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures and equipment to build out and equip our 
leased premises. Tenant improvement allowance incentives may be available to partially offset the cost of 
developing and opening the related car washes, pursuant to agreed-upon terms in the respective lease agreements. 
Tenant improvement allowances can take the form of cash payments upon the opening of the related car washes, full 
or partial credits against rents otherwise payable by us, or a combination thereof. All tenant improvement 
allowances we receive are recorded as a contra operating lease right of use asset and amortized over the term of the 
lease.

The lease term used for straight-line rent expense is calculated from the commencement date (the date we take 
possession of the premises) through the lease termination date (including any options where exercise is reasonably 
certain and failure to exercise such option would result in an economic penalty). The initial lease term of our 
operating leases ranges from 6 to 50 years. We record rent expense on a straight-line basis beginning on the lease 
commencement date.

Maintenance, insurance and property tax expenses are generally accounted for on an accrual basis as variable lease 
costs. We recognize variable lease cost for operating leases in the period when changes in facts and circumstances 
on which the variable lease payments are based occur. All operating lease rent expense is included in equipment and 
facilities or general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss).

We record a lease liability for our operating leases equal to the present value of future payments discounted at the 
estimated fully collateralized incremental borrowing rate (discount rate) corresponding with the lease term as the 
rate implicit in our leases is not readily determinable. Our operating lease liability calculation is the total rent 
payable during the lease term, including rent escalations in which the amount of future rent is certain or fixed on the 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease (including any rent holiday period beginning upon our possession of the 
premises, and any fixed payments stated in the lease). A corresponding operating lease asset is also recorded 
equaling the initial amount of the operating lease liability, plus any lease payments made to the lessor before or at 
the lease commencement date and any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received. The difference 
between the minimum rents paid and the straight-line rent is reflected within the associated operating lease right of 
use asset.

Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. 
Additionally, we do not enter into lease transactions with related parties.

We make judgments regarding the reasonably certain lease term for each car wash property lease, which can impact 
the classification and accounting for a lease as finance or operating and/or escalations in payments that are taken 
into consideration when calculating straight-line rent, and the term over which leasehold improvements for each car 
wash are amortized. These judgments may produce materially different amounts of depreciation, amortization and 
rent expense than would be reported if different assumed lease terms were used.

Revenue Recognition

A five-step model is used to recognize revenue from customer contracts under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (ASC 606). The five-step model requires that we (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) 
identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, including variable 
consideration to the extent that it is probable that a significant future reversal will not occur, (iv) allocate the 
transaction price to the respective performance obligations in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) 
we satisfy the performance obligation. 

We recognize revenue in two main streams. First, we offer an Unlimited Wash Club ("UWC") program to our 
customers. The UWC program entitles the customer to unlimited washes for a monthly fee, cancelable at any time. 
We enter into a contract with the customer that falls under the definition of a customer contract under ASC 606. 
Customers are automatically charged on a credit or debit card on the same day of the month that they originally 
signed up. Our performance obligation is to provide unlimited car wash services for a monthly fee. The UWC 
revenue is recognized ratably daily over the month in which it is earned and amounts unearned are recorded as 
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deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets. Accounts receivable, net and deferred revenue as of January 1, 
2021 were $1,397 and $24,505, respectively. Accounts receivable, net and deferred revenue as of January 1, 2022 
were $1,090 and $27,815, respectively. All amounts recorded as deferred revenue at year end are recognized as 
revenue in the following year. Second, revenue from car wash services are recognized at the point in time services 
are rendered and the customer pays with cash or credit. Revenues are net of sales tax, refunds and discounts applied 
as a reduction of revenue at the time of payment.

The following table summarizes the composition of our net revenues for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Recognized over time $ 659,612 $ 593,067 $ 486,580
Recognized at a point in time 267,067 282,424 268,981
Other revenue 391 1,015 2,796
  Net revenues $ 927,070 $ 876,506 $ 758,357

We promote and sell a limited number of prepaid products, which include discounted car wash packages and gift 
cards that are not material to the financial statements. We record the sale of these items as deferred revenue, which 
is reduced for estimated breakage, which is not material to the financial statements. Revenue is recognized based on 
the terms of the packages and when the prepaid packages or gift cards are redeemed by the customer.

Cost of Labor and Chemicals

Cost of labor and chemicals include labor costs associated with car wash employees, maintenance employees, 
warehouse employees, and chemicals and associated supplies. The related employee benefits for the aforementioned 
employees, such as taxes, insurance and workers compensation, are also included in the cost of labor and chemicals.

Other Store Operating Expenses

Other store operating expenses includes all other costs related to the operations of car wash and warehouse locations 
such as credit card fees, car damages, office and lobby supplies, information technology costs associated with the 
locations, telecommunications, advertising, non-healthcare related insurance, rent, repairs and maintenance related 
to held-for-use assets, utilities, property taxes, and depreciation on held-for-use assets at the car wash and warehouse 
locations.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses are expensed as incurred and include costs for advertising, onsite collateral, 
promotional events and sponsorships, and customer retention. Advertising costs totaled approximately $7,048, 
$4,634 and $4,868 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and are recorded in other 
store operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been 
recognized differently in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets 
are determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of assets and 
liabilities using enacted tax rates.

We have adopted a more likely than not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of an 
uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We recognize interest and penalties related to 
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uncertain tax positions in income tax provision (benefit) in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss).

Sales Taxes

We collect sales taxes from customers for taxable services provided and products sold and remit those collected 
sales and use taxes to the applicable state authorities on a monthly basis. We have adopted a policy of presenting 
such taxes on revenues on a net basis (excluded from revenues) in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss).

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to employees. We measure 
stock-based compensation cost at grant date, based upon the estimated fair value of the award, and recognize cost as 
expense using the tranche over the employee requisite service period. We estimate the fair value of stock options 
and stock purchase rights using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Restricted stock units are classified as equity 
and measured at the fair market value of the underlying stock at the grant date. Upon termination unvested time and 
performance-based options, stock-purchase rights, and restricted stock units are forfeited. We have made a policy 
election to estimate the number of stock-based compensation awards that are expected to vest to determine the 
amount of compensation expense recognized in earnings. Forfeiture estimates are revised if subsequent information 
indicates that the actual number of forfeitures is likely to differ from previous estimates.

Deferred tax assets are recorded for awards that result in deductions in our income tax returns, based upon the 
amount of compensation cost recognized and our statutory tax rate. The tax effect of differences between the 
compensation cost of an award recognized for financial reporting purposes and the deduction for an award for tax 
purposes is recognized as an income tax expense or benefit in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss) in the period in which the tax deduction arises.

Business Combinations

We evaluate each transaction under ASC 805, Business Combinations, including applying a screen test to evaluate if 
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of 
similar identifiable assets to determine whether a transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition or business 
combination.

For all business acquisitions, we recognize, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities 
assumed at their estimated acquisition-date fair values. We measure and recognize goodwill as of the acquisition 
date as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed.

To the extent contingencies such as pre-acquisition environmental matters, contingent purchase price consideration, 
litigation, and related legal fees are resolved or settled during a reporting period after a business combination occurs, 
the effect of changes in such contingencies is included in results of operations in the periods in which the 
adjustments are determined. We recognize third-party transaction-related costs as general and administrative in the 
period in which those costs are incurred.

If information about facts and circumstances existing as of the acquisition date is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which a business combination occurs, we report provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. This period will not exceed one year from the acquisition date. Any material adjustments 
recognized during the measurement period are reflected prospectively in the consolidated financial statements of the 
subsequent period.

Fair Value Measurements
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We disclose the fair value of our financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy. The levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are described as follows:

Level 1—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted market prices for identical 
assets and liabilities in an active market that we have the ability to access.

Level 2—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active, or 
model inputs that are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs 
that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

We use observable market data, when available, in making fair value measurements. When inputs used to measure 
fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement is 
categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  A contingent 
consideration liability related to one of our 2021 acquisitions was measured at fair value (Level 3) on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. See Note 10 Fair Value Measurements for additional information 
regarding the contingent consideration liability.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income 
(loss) by the weighted-average shares outstanding for the period and includes the dilutive impact of potential new 
shares issuable upon vesting and exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock units, and stock purchase 
rights granted under an employee stock purchase plan. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the 
computation of diluted net income (loss) per share if their effect is antidilutive. Reconciliations of the numerators 
and denominators of the basic and diluted net income (loss) per share calculations for the periods presented are as 
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ 80,130 $ 112,900 $ (22,045)

Denominator:
   Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic 311,035,122 303,372,095 280,215,579
   Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
       Stock options 16,778,290 23,617,488 —
       Restricted stock units 396,177 555,495 —
       Employee stock purchase plan 30,015 15,329 —
   Weighted-average common shares outstanding - diluted 328,239,604 327,560,407 280,215,579

Net income (loss) per share - basic $ 0.26 $ 0.37 $ (0.08)

Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.34 $ (0.08)

The following potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share 
for the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Stock options 3,457,404 2,204,216 30,752,951
Restricted stock units 184,619 62,140 1,683,077
Employee stock purchase plan 53,408 49,645 194,263
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement 
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU No. 2016-13”), which replaces the existing incurred loss 
impairment model with an expected credit loss model and requires a financial asset measured at amortized cost to be 
presented at the net amount expected to be collected. We adopted the new standard on January 1, 2023 and was 
applied prospectively. We reviewed our business processes and controls to support the recognition and disclosure as 
required under the new standard. The adoption of this new standard did not have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805) – Accounting for 
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (“ASU No. 2021-08”). The guidance 
improves the accounting for acquired revenue contracts with customers in a business combination by addressing 
diversity in practice and certain inconsistencies in application. This update requires that an acquirer recognize and 
measure contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC Topic 
606 as if it had originated the contracts. This update was effective for us as of January 1, 2023, and the adoption of 
this new standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures, which focuses on the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. ASU No. 2023-09 requires a public 
business entity (PBE) to disclose, on an annual basis, a tabular rate reconciliation using both percentages and currency 
amounts, broken out into specified categories with certain reconciling items further broken out by nature and 
jurisdiction to the extent those items exceed a specified threshold. In addition, all entities are required to disclose 
income taxes paid, net of refunds received disaggregated by federal, state/local, and foreign and by jurisdiction if the 
amount is at least 5% of total income tax payments, net of refunds received. For PBEs, the new standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. An entity may apply the 
amendments in this ASU prospectively by providing the revised disclosures for the period ending December 31, 2025 
and continuing to provide the pre-ASU disclosures for the prior periods, or may apply the amendments retrospectively 
by providing the revised disclosures for all period presented. We expect this ASU to only impact our disclosures with 
no impacts to our consolidated financial statements.

3. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following for the periods presented:

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Spare parts $ 6,586 $ 5,397
Prepaid insurance 2,618 3,828
Other 2,601 3,393
   Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 11,805 $ 12,618
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4. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following for the periods presented:

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Land $ 121,960 $ 94,594
Buildings and improvements 263,468 189,998
Finance leases 16,604 16,604
Leasehold improvements 135,861 115,811
Vehicles and equipment 285,127 229,453
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 100,457 86,613
Construction in progress 75,639 53,373
Property and equipment, gross 999,116 786,446
Less: accumulated depreciation (270,706) (223,288)
Less: accumulated amortization - finance leases (3,289) (2,284)
Property and equipment, net $ 725,121 $ 560,874

Depreciation expense was $62,214, $52,715 and $43,970 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. Amortization expense on finance leases was $1,005, $991 and $970 for the years ended December 31, 
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. There were no impairments recognized in 2023 or 2021. In December 2022, we 
recorded $6,252 of impairment losses primarily related to the land and building of two locations, using independent 
third-party appraisals to determine the change in market values. These losses are recorded in (gain) loss on sale of 
assets, net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

5. Other Intangible Assets, Net

Other intangibles assets, net consisted of the following as of the periods presented:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Trade names and Trademarks $ 107,000 $ — $ 107,200 $ 200
CPC Unity System 42,900 40,040 42,900 35,750
Customer relationships 9,700 6,430 11,800 8,240
Covenants not to compete 13,230 8,693 12,590 6,685
Other intangible assets, net $ 172,830 $ 55,163 $ 174,490 $ 50,875

The weighted average amortization period for CPC Unity System, customer relationships, and covenants not to 
compete are 10.0 years, 7.0 years and 6.3 years, respectively.

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $6,772, $7,874 and $5,619 for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2023, estimated future amortization expense was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending:
2024 $ 5,038
2025 1,827
2026 1,585
2027 757
Thereafter 1,460
Total estimated future amortization expense $ 10,667
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6. Goodwill

Goodwill consisted of the following for the periods presented:

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,109,815 $ 1,060,221
   Current period acquisitions 24,919 57,856
   Other provisional adjustments — (8,262)
Balance at end of period $ 1,134,734 $ 1,109,815

Goodwill is generally deductible for tax purposes, except for the portion related to purchase accounting step-up 
goodwill.

7. Other Accrued Expenses

Other accrued expenses consisted of the following for the periods presented:

As of

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Utilities $ 6,130 $ 5,439
Accrued other tax expense 9,482 8,863
Insurance expense 4,355 3,275
Greenfield development accruals 13,343 18,772
Other 5,428 4,847
   Total other accrued expenses $ 38,738 $ 41,196

Greenfield development accruals represent an obligation to pay for invoices not yet received, primarily related to 
land and buildings and improvements, on properties which we have taken control of as of December 31, 2023 and 
2022.

8. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Current provision (benefit):
Federal $ (14) $ 389 $ —
State 4,788 3,152 2,237
     Total current provision (benefit) 4,774 3,541 2,237

Deferred provision (benefit):
Federal 19,505 25,646 (22,781)
State (1,368) 3,737 (4,549)

Total deferred provision (benefit) 18,137 29,383 (27,330)
Total provision (benefit) $ 22,911 $ 32,924 $ (25,093)
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A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate provision (benefit) to our provision (benefit) consisted of the 
following for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Income tax provision (benefit) at the statutory rate $ 21,639 $ 30,623 $ (9,899)
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Federal credits (320) (532) (606)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 2,695 5,795 (2,903)
Other nondeductible expenses 368 665 714
Valuation allowance adjustment (280) 444 122
Stock based compensation (2,115) (4,571) (12,494)
Other, net 924 500 (27)
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 22,911 $ 32,924 $ (25,093)

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Lease liability $ 214,341 $ 200,061
Stock based compensation 32,517 39,924
Accrued compensation costs 1,543 1,470
Deferred revenue 1,612 1,680
Net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards 21,904 23,225
Interest expense carryforwards 24,653 6,541
Federal credit carryforwards 3,539 3,274
Other 3,780 3,284
Gross deferred tax assets 303,889 279,459
   Less valuation allowance (286) (566)
          Net deferred tax assets 303,603 278,893

Deferred tax liabilities:
Right of use asset (208,997) (193,967)
Goodwill and other intangible assets (65,609) (55,476)
Property and equipment (100,103) (81,876)
Other (551) (969)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (375,260) (332,288)
Total deferred tax liabilities, net $ (71,657) $ (53,395)

We had federal and state net operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards available of $97,166 and $34,813 at 
December 31, 2023, respectively. The federal NOL carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely while $28,685 
of the state NOL carryforwards have indefinite lives and the remaining amounts will expire between 2030 and 2043. 
We had federal interest expense carryforwards of $90,094 at December 31, 2023, which can be carried forward 
indefinitely. We also had state interest expense carryforwards in 13 states where the amounts vary by jurisdiction, 
which also have indefinite lives. We had federal general business credits of $3,539 at December 31, 2023, which can 
be carried forward for 20 years and if unused, will expire between 2037 and 2043.

As noted above, we had deferred tax assets related to both federal and state NOL and interest expense 
carryforwards. When determining the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available positive and negative 
evidence, including taxable income in prior carryback years (if carryback is permitted under the relevant tax law), 
the timing of the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and projected future 
taxable income. We adjust the valuation allowance in the period management determines it is more likely than not 
that we will not realize some or all of the deferred tax assets. 
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For financial reporting purposes, we established valuation allowances of $286 and $566 at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively, to offset deferred tax assets. The current and prior year valuation allowance relates to state 
attributes and carryovers.

Past ownership changes and other equity transactions may have triggered Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, resulting in certain annual limitations on the utilization of existing federal and state net operating 
losses and credits. Such provisions may limit the potential future tax benefit to be realized by us from its 
accumulated net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.

On August 9, 2022, the Creating Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors (“CHIPS”) Act of 2022 was signed 
into law. The CHIPS Act is designed to boost domestic semiconductor manufacturing and encourage US research 
activities. Later that month, on August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) of 2022 was signed into law. 
The IRA creates a new book-minimum tax on certain large corporations and an excise tax on stock buybacks while 
also providing incentives to address climate change mitigation and clean energy, among other items. Most of these 
changes became effective for the 2023 tax year and after initial evaluation, we do not currently expect these laws to 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The income tax expense recorded in 2023 is different from the expected statutory federal and state tax benefit 
primarily due to a $2,115 income tax benefit related to equity award exercises and/or vesting in 2023, which is net 
of the impact of the internal revenue code rules and regulations related to the deductibility of executive 
compensation by publicly held companies.  

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state tax jurisdictions and are subject to varying statutes of 
limitation in each jurisdiction. As of December 31, 2023, we are not under audit for federal or state income tax 
purposes. In general, our federal tax return may be subject to examination for the 2020 through 2022 tax years, 
while for state purposes, the 2019 through 2022 years are generally open to examination, with some states having 
either a three- or four-year statute of limitations. Our usage of NOL carryovers also permits taxing authorities to 
adjust aspects of tax returns that may be outside of these statutes of limitation.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax (benefit) provision. We  
accrued interest and penalties of $175 as of December 31, 2023 in income tax expense. We neither accrued for nor 
recognized any interest or penalties in income tax expense as of December 31, 2022 or 2021. We have not accrued 
for any uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2023 or 2022 and we believe that it is unlikely that there will be a 
significant increase or decrease of any unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

9. Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of the periods presented:

As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Credit agreement
First lien term loan $ 901,201 $ 901,201

Less: unamortized discount and debt issuance costs (3,777) (5,371)
Less: current maturities of debt — —

First lien term loan, net 897,424 895,830
Credit agreement, net $ 897,424 $ 895,830

Total long-term debt, net $ 897,424 $ 895,830

As of December 31, 2023, annual maturities of debt were as follows:
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Fiscal Year Ending:
2024 $ —
2025 —
2026 901,201
2027 —
2028 —
Thereafter —
Total maturities of debt $ 901,201

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, unamortized debt issuance costs was $4,030 and $5,729, respectively, and 
accumulated amortization of debt issuance costs was $6,145 and $4,446, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the amortization of debt issuance costs in interest expense, 
net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) was approximately $1,698, $1,698 
and $1,155, respectively.

Credit Agreement

On August 21, 2014, we entered into a Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”) which was originally comprised of a 
term loan (“First Lien Term Loan”) and a revolving commitment (“Revolving Commitment”). The Credit 
Agreement was collateralized by substantially all personal property (including cash, inventory, property and 
equipment, and intangible assets), real property, and equity interests owned by us.

Under the First Lien Term Loan under the Credit Agreement, we had the option of selecting either (i) a Base Rate 
interest rate plus fixed margin of 2.25% or (ii) a Eurodollar (LIBOR) interest rate for one, two, three or six months 
plus a fixed margin of 3.25%. 

Under the Revolving Commitment under the Credit Agreement, we had the option of selecting either (i) a Base Rate 
interest rate plus a variable margin of 2.50% to 3.00%, based on our First Lien Net Debt Leverage Ratio, or (ii) a 
Eurodollar (LIBOR) interest rate for one, two, three or six months plus a variable margin of 3.50% to 4.00%, based 
on our First Lien Net Leverage Ratio.

First Lien Term Loan

In February 2020, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement 
(“Amended First Lien Credit Agreement”) which amended and restated the Amended and Restated First Lien Credit 
Agreement entered into in May 2019 ("First Lien Credit Agreement"). The Amended First Lien Credit Agreement 
changed the interest rate spreads associated with the First Lien Credit Agreement where (i) the variable margin 
associated with the Base Rate interest rate plus a variable margin based on our First Lien Net Leverage Ratio 
changed from 2.25% to 2.50% to 2.00% to 2.25% and (ii) the variable margin associated with the Eurodollar Rate 
interest rate for one, two, three or six months plus a variable margin based on our First Lien Net Leverage Ratio 
changed from 3.25% to 3.50% to 3.00% to 3.25%.

In February 2020 and March 2020, we borrowed $30,000 and $10,000, respectively, under the delayed draw facility 
under the First Lien Term Loan, utilizing the full $40,000 available under the delayed draw facility. As a result of 
the additional borrowings under the delayed draw facility, the quarterly principal payments associated with the First 
Lien Term Loan increased from $2,000 to $2,100.

In June 2021, we made a voluntary prepayment of $190,400 of outstanding principal under the First Lien Term Loan 
funded by the net proceeds from the IPO. In connection with the voluntary prepayment, we expensed $1,037 of 
previously unamortized debt issuance costs as a loss on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss). The early prepayment resulted in the elimination of required quarterly 
amortization principal payments through 2026.

In December 2021, in connection with the Clean Streak Ventures acquisition, we entered into Amendment No. 3 to 
the Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement which amended and restated the Amended and Restated 
First Lien Credit Agreement entered into in May 2019. Under the terms of the Amended First Lien Credit 
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Agreement, the previous First Lien Term Loan was increased by $290,000 to $903,301 with the balance due on May 
14, 2026. The incremental increase in aggregate principal of $290,000 resulted in $285,962 of proceeds net of 
discount and deferred debt issuance costs. In connection with the Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated First 
Lien Credit Agreement, we expensed $21 of previously unamortized debt issuance costs as a loss on extinguishment 
of debt in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

In December 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement 
with the lenders party thereto, and Jeffries Finance LLC, as administrative agent, to transition from LIBOR to 
Eurocurrency rate SOFR spread, whereas all revolver borrowings and term loan borrowings under the existing credit 
agreement will be SOFR based. All other terms governing this term loan facility remained substantially the same.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount outstanding under the First Lien Term Loan was $901,201. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the interest rate on the First Lien Term Loan was 8.46% and 7.42%, respectively.

The Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement requires us to maintain compliance with a First Lien Net 
Leverage Ratio. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio financial 
covenant of the Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement.

Revolving Commitment

In June 2021, we entered into Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement that (i) 
increased the maximum available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Commitment from $75,000 to $150,000 
and (ii) extended the maturity date of the Revolving Commitment to the earliest to occur of (a) June 4, 2026, (b) the 
date that is six months prior to the maturity date of the First Lien Term Loan (provided that clause (b) shall not 
apply if the maturity date for the First Lien Term Loan is extended to a date that is at least six months after June 4, 
2026, the First Lien Term Loan is refinanced having a maturity date at least six months after June 4, 2026, or the 
First Lien Term Loan is paid in full), (c) the date that commitments under the Revolving Commitment are 
permanently reduced to zero, and (d) the date of the termination of the commitments under the Revolving 
Commitment. The increase to the maximum available borrowing capacity was effected on the close of the IPO in 
June 2021.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Commitment. 

The maximum available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Commitment is reduced by outstanding letters of 
credit under the Revolving Commitment. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the available borrowing capacity 
under the Revolving Commitment was $149,193 and $148,581, respectively.

In addition, an unused commitment fee based on our First Lien Net Leverage Ratio is payable on the average of the 
unused borrowing capacity under the Revolving Commitment. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the unused 
commitment fee was 0.25%.

Standby Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2023, we have a letter of credit sublimit of $10,000 under the Revolving Commitment, 
provided that the total utilization of revolving commitments under the Revolving Commitment does not exceed 
$150,000 subsequent to the First Lien Credit Agreement. Any letter of credit issued under the Credit Agreement has 
an expiration date which is the earlier of (i) no later than 12 months from the date of issuance or (ii) five business 
days prior to the maturity date of the Revolving Commitment, as amended under Amendment No. 2 to Amended 
and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement. Letters of credit under the Revolving Commitment reduce the maximum 
available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Commitment. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amounts 
associated with outstanding letters of credit were $807 and $1,419, respectively, and unused letters of credit under 
the Revolving Commitment were $9,193 and $8,581, respectively.

10. Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2023:
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Fair Value Measurements
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Deferred compensation plan $ 5,553 $ 5,553 $ — $ —

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation plan $ 3,961 $ 3,961 $ — $ —
Contingent consideration $ 4,750 $ — $ — $ 4,750

The following table presents financial liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2022:

Fair Value Measurements
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Deferred compensation plan $ 4,600 $ 4,600 $ — $ —

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation plan $ 3,818 $ 3,818 $ — $ —
Contingent consideration $ 5,250 $ — $ — $ 5,250

We measure the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities using the highest level of inputs that are available as 
of the measurement date. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate 
their fair value due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

We maintain a deferred compensation plan for a select group of our highly compensated employees, in which 
certain of our executive officers participate in. The plan allows eligible participants to defer up to 90% of their base 
salary and/or incentive plan compensation as well as any refunds from our 401(k) Plan. Participants may elect 
investment funds selected by the Company in whole percentages. Changes in the value of compensation deferred 
under these plans are recognized each period based on the fair value of the underlying measurement funds. These 
investment funds consist primarily of equity securities, such as common stock and mutual funds, and fixed income 
securities and are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are 
traded and are classified as Level 1. These investment options do not represent actual ownership of or ownership 
rights in the applicable funds; they serve the purpose of valuing the account and the corresponding obligation of the 
Company.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of our First Lien Term Loan approximated its carrying value due 
to the debt's variable interest rate terms.

As of December 31, 2023, we did not hold any cash investments. As of December 31, 2022, we recognized assets in 
cash investments of $5,032, of which $4,992 are held in commercial paper and categorized as Level 2 assets and $40 
held in money market funds, which are categorized as Level 1 assets. These investments have maturities of less than 
90 days and are recorded within Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet. During the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest income related to cash investments was not material.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recognized a Level 3 contingent consideration liability in connection with 
the Downtowner Car Wash acquisition. We measured its contingent consideration liability arising from our 2021 
acquisition using Level 3 unobservable inputs. The contingent consideration liability is associated with the 
achievement of certain targets and is estimated at each balance sheet date by considering among other factors, 
results of completed periods and our most recent financial projection for future periods subject to earn-out payments. 
There are two components to the contingent consideration: a payment when we obtain the certificate of occupancy 
for the car wash and opens to the public in 2023 and an annual payment based on certain financial metrics of the 
business. A change in the forecasted revenue or projected opening dates could result in a significantly lower or 
higher fair value measurement. We determined that there were no significant changes to the unobservable inputs that 
would have resulted in a change in fair value of this contingent consideration liability at December 31, 2023. During 
the year ended December 31, 2023, a payment was made upon receipt of certificate of occupancy of $500.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between fair value measurement 
levels.
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11. Interest Rate Swap

In May 2020, we entered into a pay-fixed, receive-floating interest rate swap (the “Swap”) to mitigate variability in 
forecasted interest payments on an amortizing notional of $550,000 of our variable-rate First Lien Term Loan. We 
designated the Swap as a cash flow hedge. In October 2022, the interest rate swap expired. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, no amounts were reported, and for the year ended December 31, 
2021, $449 was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss) net of tax.

12. Leases

Our incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest we expect to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow 
an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. To determine the incremental borrowing rates used to 
discount the lease payments, we estimated our synthetic credit rating and utilized market data for similarly situated 
companies.

Balance sheet information related to leases consisted of the following for the periods presented:

As of
Classification December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Assets
Operating Operating right of use assets, net $ 833,547 $ 776,689
Finance Property and equipment, net 13,315 14,320
Total lease assets $ 846,862 $ 791,009

Liabilities
Current

Operating Current maturities of operating lease liability $ 43,979 $ 40,367
Finance Current maturities of finance lease liability 746 668

Long-term
Operating Operating lease liability 809,409 759,775
Finance Financing lease liability 14,033 14,779

Total lease liabilities $ 868,167 $ 815,589

Components of total lease cost, net, consisted of the following for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating lease expense(a) $ 102,422 $ 89,250
Finance lease expense

Amortization of lease assets 1,005 991
Interest on lease liabilities 1,087 1,129

Short-term lease expense 52 32
Variable lease expense(b) 18,141 15,156
Total $ 122,707 $ 106,558

(a) Operating lease expense includes an immaterial amount of sublease income and is included in other store 
operating expenses and general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

(b) Variable lease costs consist primarily of property taxes, property insurance, and common area or other 
maintenance costs for our leases of land and buildings and is included in other store operating expenses in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The following includes supplemental information for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 100,586 $ 89,573
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 1,087 $ 1,130
Financing cash flows from finance leases $ 668 $ 577

Operating lease ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ 101,861 $ 92,048
Finance lease ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ - $ 107

Weighted-average remaining operating lease term 13.86 14.11
Weighted-average remaining finance lease term 15.57 16.37

Weighted-average operating lease discount rate 8.06% 7.34%
Weighted-average finance lease discount rate 7.33% 7.33%

As of December 31, 2023, lease obligation maturities were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending: Operating Leases Finance Leases

2024 $ 106,912 $ 1,780
2025 107,088 1,786
2026 106,084 1,792
2027 102,375 1,819
2028 96,443 1,846
Thereafter 937,808 18,425
Total future minimum obligations $ 1,456,710 $ 27,448
Less: Present value discount (603,322) (12,669)
Present value of net future minimum lease obligations $ 853,388 $ 14,779
Less: Current portion (43,979) (746)
Long-term obligations $ 809,409 $ 14,033

Forward Starting Leases

As of December 31, 2023, we entered into 14 leases that had not yet commenced related to build-to-suit 
arrangements for car wash locations. These leases will commence in years 2024 through 2026 with initial lease 
terms of 15 to 20 years.

As of December 31, 2022, we entered into seven leases that had not yet commenced related to build-to-suit 
arrangements for car wash locations. These leases commenced in 2023 or will commence in 2024 or 2025 with 
initial lease terms of 15 to 20 years.

Sale-leaseback Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we completed 19 sale-leaseback transactions related to car wash 
locations with aggregate consideration of $123,528 resulting in net gains of $1,074, which is included in (gain) loss 
on sale of assets, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 
Contemporaneously with the closing of the sales, we entered into lease agreements for the properties for initial 15- 
to 20-year terms. For the sale-leaseback transactions consummated for the year ended December 31, 2023, the 
cumulative initial annual rents for the properties were approximately $7,737, subject to annual escalations. These 
leases are accounted for as operating leases. 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we completed six sale-leaseback transactions related to car wash 
locations with aggregate consideration of $89,932, resulting in net gains of $8,359, which is included in (gain) loss 
on sale of assets, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 
Contemporaneously with the closing of the sales, we entered into lease agreements for the properties for initial 15- 
to 20-year terms. For the sale-leaseback transactions consummated for the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
cumulative initial annual rents for the properties were approximately $5,062, subject to annual escalations. These 
leases are accounted for as operating leases.
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13. Stockholders’ Equity

As of December 31, 2023, there were 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock authorized, 318,366,628 shares of 
common stock issued, and 315,192,401 shares of common stock outstanding.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock authorized, 309,800,757 shares of 
common stock issued, and 306,626,530 shares of common stock outstanding. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized and none were issued 
or outstanding.

We use the cost method to account for treasury stock. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had 3,174,227 shares 
of treasury stock. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the cost of treasury stock included in additional paid-in 
capital in the consolidated balance sheets was $6,091.

14. Stock-Based Compensation 

The 2014 Plan

Under the 2014 Stock Option Plan of Hotshine Holdings, Inc. (the “2014 Plan”), the Company may grant incentive 
stock options or nonqualified stock options to purchase common shares of the Company to its employees, directors, 
officers, outside advisors and non-employee consultants. 

All stock options granted under the 2014 Plan are equity-classified and have a contractual life of ten years. Under 
the 2014 Plan, 60% of the shares in a grant contain service-based vesting conditions and vest ratably over a five-year 
period and 40% of the shares in a grant contain performance-based vesting conditions (“Performance Vesting 
Options”). The condition for the Performance Vesting Options is a change in control or an initial public offering, 
where (i) 50% of the Performance Vesting Options vest and become exercisable if the Principal Stockholders 
receive the Target Proceeds at the Measurement Date and (ii) the remaining 50% of the Performance Vesting 
Options vest and become exercisable if the Principal Stockholders receive the Maximum Amount at the 
Measurement Date. Principal Stockholders is defined in the 2014 Plan as (a) Green Equity Investors VI, L.P., (b) 
Green Equity Investors Side VI, L.P., (c) LGP Associates VI-A, LLC, (d) LGP Associates VI-B LLC, and (e) the 
affiliates of the foregoing entities. Measurement Date is defined as the date of a change in control or an initial public 
offering, whichever comes first. The Target Proceeds and Maximum Amount are defined and measured by either 
multiples of invested capital or an annual compounded pre-tax internal rate of return on investment. In June 2021, 
the Company modified all outstanding shares of Performance Vesting Options to remove, subject to the successful 
completion of the IPO, the requirement that the Principal Stockholders receive the Target Proceeds and the 
Maximum Amount as conditions for the Performance Vesting Options to vest. The exercise prices for stock options 
granted under the 2014 Plan were not less than the fair market value of the common stock of the Company on the 
date of grant. For the avoidance of doubt, the IPO constituted a performance measurement date under the applicable 
option agreements for the Performance Vesting Options and the Performance Vesting Options vested in full in 
connection with the IPO.

The 2021 Plan

In June 2021, the Board adopted the 2021 Incentive Award Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which was subsequently 
approved by the Company's stockholders and became effective on June 25, 2021. Under the 2021 Plan, the 
Company may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted 
stock, and other stock- or cash-based awards to its employees, directors, officers, and non-employee consultants. 
Initially, the maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2021 Plan is 
29,800,000 new shares of common stock, which includes 256,431 shares of common stock that remained available 
for issuance under the 2014 Plan at June 25, 2021. In connection with the IPO, stock option and RSU awards were 
granted with respect to 3,726,305 shares. Any shares of common stock subject to outstanding stock awards granted 
under the 2014 Plan and, following June 25, 2021, terminate, expire or are otherwise forfeited, reacquired or 
withheld will become available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.

All stock options granted under the 2021 Plan are equity-classified and have a contractual life of ten years. Under 
the 2021 Plan, the stock options contain service-based vesting conditions and generally vest ratably over a three- to 
five-year period (collectively with stock options under the 2014 Plan, the “Time Vesting Options”). The exercise 
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prices for stock options granted under the 2021 Plan were not less than the fair market value of the common stock of 
the Company on the date of grant.

RSUs granted under the 2021 Plan are equity-classified and contain service-based conditions and generally vest 
ratably over one- to five-year periods. Each RSU represents the right to receive one share of the Company’s 
common stock upon vesting. The fair value is calculated based upon the Company’s closing stock price on the date 
of grant, and the stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service period, which is 
generally the vesting period.

The 2014 Plan and 2021 Plan are administered by the Board or, at the discretion of the Board, by a committee 
thereof. The exercise prices for stock options, the vesting of awards, and other restrictions are determined at the 
discretion of the Board, or its committee if so delegated. 

The 2021 ESPP

In June 2021, the Board adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2021 ESPP”), which was subsequently 
approved by the Company’s stockholders and became effective in June 2021. The 2021 ESPP authorizes the initial 
issuance of up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to eligible employees of the Company or, as 
designated by the Board, employees of a related company. The 2021 ESPP provides for offering periods not to 
exceed 27 months, and each offering period will include purchase periods. The Company determined that offering 
periods would commence at approximately the six-month period beginning with an enrollment date and ending with 
the next exercise date, except that the first offering period commenced on the effective date of the Company's 
registration statement and ended on November 9, 2021.

The 2021 ESPP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2021 ESPP will 
automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year from January 1, 2022 through January 1, 2031 by an 
amount equal to the lesser of (i) 0.5% of the outstanding number of shares of common stock on the immediately 
preceding December 31 and (ii) such lesser number of shares of common stock as determined by the Board. 

Share-Based Payment Valuation

The grant date fair value of Time Vesting Options granted is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. The grant date fair value of Performance Vesting Options is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation 
model and a barrier-adjusted Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The grant date fair value of stock purchase rights 
granted under the 2021 ESPP is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

2021 ESPP Valuation

The following table presents, on a weighted-average basis, the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model to determine the grant date fair value of stock purchase rights granted under the 2021 ESPP Plan during the 
period presented as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Expected volatility 36.30% - 55.99% 34.33% - 53.90%
Risk-free interest rate 4.53% - 5.38% 0.07% - 4.53%
Expected term (in years) 0.49 - 0.50 0.49 - 0.50
Expected dividend yield None None

Time Vesting Options

The following table presents, on a weighted-average basis, the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model to determine the grant date fair value of Time Vesting Options granted under the 2014 Plan and 2021 Plan 
during the periods presented as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Expected volatility 43.74% - 46.58% 35.63% - 36.95% 34.13% - 44.89%
Risk-free interest rate 3.68% - 4.21% 2.96% - 3.65% 0.63% - 1.34%
Expected term (in years) 6.0 - 6.26 6.0 - 6.26 5.2 - 6.5
Expected dividend yield None None None

Stock Options

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the most recent period presented is as follows:

Time Vesting 
Options

Performance 
Vesting 
Options

Total Number 
of Stock 
Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 15,651,622 9,882,278 25,533,900 $ 2.31
Granted 1,712,812 — 1,712,812 $ 8.89
Exercised (5,083,942) (2,169,482) (7,253,424) $ 0.93
Forfeited (535,598) (7,682) (543,280) $ 9.08

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 11,744,894 7,705,114 19,450,008 $ 3.21

Options vested or expected to vest as of 
   December 31, 2023 11,306,317 7,705,114 19,011,431 $ 7.15
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2023 8,090,645 7,705,114 15,795,759 $ 1.74

The number and weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options during the most recent period presented is 
as follows:

Number of Stock Options
Weighted-Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Time Vesting 
Options

Performance Vesting 
Options

Time Vesting 
Options

Performance 
Vesting 
Options

Non-vested as of December 31, 2022 3,704,919 — $ 3.90 —
Non-vested as of December 31, 2023 3,629,454 — $ 4.39 —
Granted during the period 1,712,812 — $ 4.35 —
Vested during the period 1,311,898 — $ 3.18 —
Forfeited/canceled during the period 476,379 — $ 4.06 —

The total grant date fair value of Time Vesting Options granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
approximately $7,456. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023, 
2022 and 2021 was $54,975, $63,104 and $99,844, respectively.

The fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $10,611, 
$19,717 and $328,839, respectively.

The weighted-average fair value of time vesting options granted in 2023, 2022 and 2021, estimated on the dates of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was $4.35, $4.85 and $5.12, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the weighted-average remaining contractual life of outstanding stock options 
was approximately 3.67 years and 4.16 years.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the weighted-average remaining contractual life of currently exercisable stock 
options was approximately 2.86 years and 3.94 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes our RSU activity during the periods presented as follows:
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Restricted Stock 
Units

Weighted-Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 2,075,859 $ 13.55
Granted 2,717,815 8.34
Vested (694,100) 13.60
Forfeited (381,069) 11.14

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 3,718,505 $ 9.98

The total fair value of RSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $5,830.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the weighted-average remaining contractual life of outstanding RSUs was 
approximately 8.97 years and 9.01 years, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company estimated a forfeiture rate of 8.82% for awards with service-based vesting conditions based on 
historical experience and future expectations of the vesting of these share-based payments. The Company used this 
rate as an assumption in calculating stock-based compensation expense for Time Vesting Options, RSUs, and stock 
purchase rights granted under the 2021 ESPP.

Total stock-based compensation expense, by caption, recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cost of labor and chemicals $ 8,879 $ 8,349 $ 36,500
General and administrative 15,122 13,956 180,079
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 24,001 $ 22,305 $ 216,579
Income tax benefit for stock-based compensation expense $ (4,380) $ (3,932) $ (50,932)

Total stock-based compensation expense, by award type, recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Time Vesting Options $ 6,812 $ 6,922 $ 5,662
Performance Vesting Options — — 201,985
RSUs 16,230 13,984 6,585
2021 ESPP 959 1,399 2,347
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 24,001 $ 22,305 $ 216,579

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested Time Vesting Options was 
$6,914, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.36 years.

As of December 31, 2023, there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested Performance 
Vesting Options as the completion of the IPO satisfied the performance condition and as a result, all outstanding 
Performance Vesting Options vested. 

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $17,475, which 
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.28 years.

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock purchase rights under 
the 2021 ESPP was $385, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.37 years.

Modification of Stock Options

In February 2021, the Company modified a total of 7,874,304 shares of Performance Vesting Options for 12 
grantees to provide for an additional service-based vesting condition related to the acceleration of vesting in 
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connection with a grantees’ death. The Company did not recognize current incremental stock-based compensation 
expense in connection with the modification during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 because the grants 
vest upon the earlier of a performance condition or a service condition, neither of which are probable of occurring 
until the condition is met. The modification resulted in an incremental increase to unrecognized compensation 
expense related to unvested Performance Vesting Options of $75,217, which was recognized in June 2021 in 
connection with the completion of the IPO.

In June 2021, the Company modified all outstanding shares of Performance Vesting Options to remove, subject to 
the successful completion of the IPO, the requirement that the Principal Stockholders receive the Target Proceeds 
and the Maximum Amount as conditions for the Performance Vesting Options to vest. This modification resulted in 
incremental stock-based compensation expense of $117,708, which was recognized in June 2021 in connection with 
the completion of the IPO.

15. Employee Retirement Savings Plan

In January 2011, we established a defined contribution 401(k)-plan to benefit certain employees. The 401(k)-plan 
sponsor is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Employees are eligible to participate if they are at least 18 
years of age and have worked for the Company for at least six months. We may make discretionary matching 
contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we made $1,232, $1,153, and $977, 
respectively, of matching contributions.

We maintain a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for certain management employees. Under the deferred 
compensation plan, a participant may elect to defer up to 90% of their base salary, 90% of their annual bonus, and/or 
100% of 401(k) contributions that fail the top-heavy testing for highly compensated employees. We may make 
discretionary matching contributions. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the deferred compensation liability under 
this plan within accrued payroll and related expenses was $3,961 and $3,818, respectively.

16. Business Combinations

From time to time, we may pursue acquisitions of conveyorized car washes that either strategically fit with the 
business or expand our presence in new and attractive markets.

We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The assets acquired, and 
liabilities assumed in connection with business acquisitions are recorded at the date of acquisition at their estimated 
fair values, with any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired and 
intangible assets assigned, recorded as goodwill. Significant judgment is required in estimating the fair value of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and in assigning their respective useful lives. Accordingly, we may engage 
third-party valuation specialists to assist in these determinations. The fair value estimates are based on available 
historical information and on future expectations and assumptions deemed reasonable by management; but are 
inherently uncertain.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of an acquired business starting from the effective date 
of the acquisition. We expensed $208, $647 and $2,383 of acquisition-related costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and are 
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss).

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount of acquired goodwill that is not deductible for income 
tax purposes was $0 and $1,078, respectively. The goodwill recognized in 2023 and 2022 is primarily attributable to 
the expected synergies to be achieved from the business combinations.

2023 Acquisitions

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired the assets and liabilities of six conveyorized car washes in two 
acquisitions for total consideration of approximately $51,217, which was paid in cash. These acquisitions resulted in 
the preliminary recognition of $24,919 of goodwill, $22,555 of property and equipment, $3,580 of ROU assets, 
$640 of intangible assets, $101 of other net liabilities, and $376 of a bargain purchase gain. The bargain purchase 
gain is not material and is recorded within (gain) loss on sale of assets, net on the consolidated statements of 
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operations and comprehensive income (loss). We do not believe these acquisitions are material to our overall 
consolidated financial statements.

The acquisitions were located in the following markets:

Location (Seller) Number of Washes Month Acquired

Arizona (Dynamite Car Wash) 1 April
California (Cruizers Car Wash) 5 July

Unaudited Supplemental Pro Forma Information

The following table presents unaudited supplemental pro forma information for the periods presented as if the 
business combinations had occurred on January 1, 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Net revenues $ 12,655 $ 9,340
Net income $ 2,807 $ 355

The pro forma results presented above primarily include amortization charges for acquired intangible assets, 
depreciation adjustments for property and equipment that has been revalued, adjustments for certain acquisition-
related charges, and the related tax effects. The pro forma information is presented for information purposes only 
and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisitions had taken place at 
such time.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the revenues and earnings of the acquisitions reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) were $6,415 and $1,356, respectively.

2022 Acquisitions

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we acquired the assets and liabilities of 11 conveyorized car washes in four 
acquisitions for total consideration of approximately $98,548, which was paid in cash. These acquisitions resulted in 
the preliminary recognition of $57,856 of goodwill, $37,174 of property and equipment, $1,540 of intangible assets 
related to covenant not to compete, and $1,978 of other assets and liabilities. There were no adjustments related to 
2022 acquisitions in the current year.

The weighted-average amortization period for the acquired covenants not to compete is 5.0 years.

The acquisitions were located in the following markets:

Location (Seller) Number of Washes Month Acquired

Georgia (Bamboo Carwash) 1 April
California (Speedwash) 4 April
Minnesota (Top Wash) 3 August
California (Rapid Xpress) 3 December

Unaudited Supplemental Pro Forma Information

The following table presents unaudited supplemental pro forma information for the periods presented as if the 
business combinations had occurred on January 1, 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Net revenues $ 17,050 $ 18,310
Net income $ 3,856 $ 6,478

The pro forma results presented above primarily include amortization charges for acquired intangible assets, 
depreciation adjustments for property and equipment that has been revalued, adjustments for certain acquisition-
related charges, and the related tax effects. The pro forma information is presented for information purposes only 
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and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisitions had taken place at 
such time.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 the revenues and earnings of the acquisitions reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) were $7,709 and $(89), respectively.

2021 Acquisitions

For the year end December 31, 2021, we acquired the assets and liabilities of 37 conveyorized car washes in five 
acquisitions for total consideration of approximately $524,839, which was paid in cash. These acquisitions resulted 
in the recognition of $323,477 of goodwill, $202,708 of property and equipment, $4,300 of intangible assets related 
to customer relationships, $3,970 of intangible assets related to covenants not to compete, and $9,665 of net 
liabilities. In connection with the Downtowner Car Wash acquisition, we recognized a contingent consideration 
liability of $5,750. See Note 10 Fair Value Measurements for additional information regarding the contingent 
consideration liability.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, as a result of receiving $11,845 in escrow funds associated with an 
acquired location that did not receive zoning permits as required under the purchase agreement, we recorded an 
adjustment during the measurement period to our Clean Streak Ventures LLC purchase price allocation which 
reduced goodwill by $10,670 and land by $1,175. Additional adjustments related to 2021 acquisitions were not 
material in the current year.

The weighted-average amortization periods for the acquired customer relationships and covenants not to compete 
are 7.0 years and 5.0 years, respectively.

The acquisitions were located in the following markets:

Location (Seller)
Number of 

Washes
Month 

Acquired
Florida (Superwash Express) 5 June
Texas (Super Suds Car Wash) 1 July
Texas (Daddy O's Car Wash) 3 November
Florida (Downtowner Car Wash) 5 December
Florida (Clean Streak Ventures LLC) 23 December

17. Related-Party Transactions 

Leonard Green Partners ("LGP"), the majority owner of the Company, historically received $1,000 annually for 
various advisory and monitoring services provided to the Company. The management services agreement with LGP 
that provided for the advisory and monitoring services terminated in June 2021 upon the consummation of the IPO.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total fees and expenses paid by the Company to LGP were not 
material. For the year ended December 31, 2021, total fees and expenses paid by the Company to LGP were $500. 
Fees and expenses paid to LGP are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

LGP was one of the Company’s creditors under the Second Lien Credit Agreement with an investment of $5,625 
allowed through the Amended Second Lien Credit Agreement. The Company made a voluntary prepayment of all 
outstanding balances under the Second Lien Term Loan in June 2021.

18. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, we are party to pending or threatened lawsuits arising out of or incident to the ordinary course of 
business. We carry professional and general liability insurance coverage and other insurance coverages. In the 
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opinion of management and upon consultation with legal counsel, none of the pending or threatened lawsuits will 
have a material effect upon the consolidated financial position, operations, or cash flows of the Company.

Class Action Litigation

On February 14, 2023, a plaintiff filed a purported class action lawsuit in the Stanislaus County Superior Court, 
California, on behalf of all non-exempt employees employed by Defendants Prime Shine LLC in California any time 
between February 14, 2019, and the present, against Prime Shine, LLC and Does 1 – 20 inclusive.  Plaintiff alleges 
eight claims for violations of the California Labor Code and one claim for violation of the California Business & 
Professions Code.  On June 13, 2023, Plaintiff filed a First Amended Complaint to add a claim for penalties 
pursuant to the Private Attorneys General Act.  Plaintiff seeks, among other things, an unspecified amount for 
unpaid wages, actual, consequential, and incidental losses, penalties, and attorneys’ fees and costs.  The parties 
agreed to an informal exchange of information in lieu of formal discovery prior to mediation with an experienced 
wage-and-hour mediator. In October 2023, following mediation, both parties agreed to settle the lawsuit. A financial 
amount was accrued that was not material to our consolidated financial statements. This agreement is contingent 
upon the formalization of a written settlement document and subsequent approval from the California Department of 
Labor and the court. Should all these conditions be met, the class action lawsuit will be considered settled.  

Insurance

We carry a broad range of insurance coverage, including general and business auto liability, commercial property, 
workers’ compensation, cyber risk, directors and officers, and general umbrella policies. As of December 31, 2023 
and 2022, we accrued $4,311 and $3,230, respectively, for assessments on insurance claims filed, which are 
included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, we recorded $3,686 and $2,627, respectively, in other receivables from our non-healthcare insurance carriers 
related to these insurance claims, which are included in other receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. The receivables are paid when the claim is finalized and the reserved amounts on these claims are expected 
to be paid within one year.

Environmental Matters

Operations at certain facilities currently or previously owned or leased by us utilize, or in the past have utilized, 
hazardous substances generally in compliance with applicable law. Periodically, we have had minor claims asserted 
against us by regulatory agencies or private parties for environmental matters relating to the handling of hazardous 
substances by us, and we have incurred obligations for investigations or remedial actions with respect to certain of 
these matters. There can be no assurances that activities at these facilities, or future facilities owned or operated by 
us, may not result in additional environmental claims being asserted against us or additional investigations or 
remedial actions being required. We are not aware of any significant remediation matters as of December 31, 2023. 
Because of various factors including the difficulty of identifying the responsible parties for any particular site, the 
complexity of determining the relative liability among them, the uncertainty as to the most desirable remediation 
techniques and the amount of damages and clean-up costs and the time period during which such costs may be 
incurred, we are unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate cost of claims asserted against us related to 
environmental matters; however, we do not believe such costs will be material to its consolidated financial 
statements.

In addition to potential claims asserted against us, there are certain regulatory obligations associated with these 
facilities. We also have a third-party specialist to review the sites subject to these regulations annually, for the 
purpose of assigning future cost. A third party has conducted a preliminary assessment of site restoration provisions 
arising from these regulations and we have recognized a provisional amount. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
we recorded an environmental remediation accrual of $15 and $12, respectively, which is included in other accrued 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In order to ensure that the information we must disclose in our filings with the SEC is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported on a timely basis, we have developed and implemented disclosure controls and 
procedures. Our management, with the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined 
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, our management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
December 31, 2023 in ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under 
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's 
rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the President and Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 
2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).

Using criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework), our management assessed the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023.

Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has also audited the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. Their report is included herein.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Mister Car Wash, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Mister Car Wash, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, 
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the 
Company and our report dated February 23, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
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Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the 
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Tempe, Arizona 
February 23, 2024

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Arrangements

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1 of the 
Exchange Act) adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading 
arrangement (as such terms are defined under Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement with respect to our 
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Code of Conduct

Our board of directors has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) applicable to all of our directors, 
officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller 
or persons performing similar functions) and employees. Our Code of Conduct is available on our website at 
www.mistercarwash.com under Investor Relations. Our Code of Conduct is a “code of ethics” as defined in Item 
406(b) of Regulation S-K. We intend to make any legally required disclosures regarding amendments to, or waivers 
of, provisions of our Code of Conduct on our website to satisfy requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement with respect to our 
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement with respect to our 
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement with respect to our 
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement with respect to our 
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Consolidated financial statements: All consolidated financial statements as set forth under Part II, Item 8 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Supplementary Financial Statement Schedules: Supplementary schedules have not been included 
because they are not applicable or because the information is included elsewhere in this report.

3. Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number  Description Form File. No Exhibit Filing Date

Furnished 
Herewith 

2.1+ Equity Purchase Agreement, dated December 8, 
2021, by and among Sunshine Acquisition Sub Corp., 
Clean Streak Ventures, LLC, MDKMH Partners, 
Inc., Clean Streak Ventures Intermediate Holdco, 
LLC (the “CSV Seller”), MKH Capital Partners 
Offshore Fund I, LP (the “CSV Blocker Seller” and 
together with the CSV Seller, each a “Seller” and 
together the “Sellers”), and Clean Streak Ventures 
Holdco, LLC, as the representative of the Sellers.

10-Q 001-40542 2.1 05/13/2022

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 
of the Company

8-K 001-40542 3.2 06/01/2022

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company 8-K 001-40542 3.1 06/01/2023
4.1 Description of Capital Stock *
10.1 Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement, 

dated June 29, 2021, among the Company and certain 
of its shareholders

8-K 001-40542 10.1 07/02/2021

10.2 Second Amendment to the First Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated June 4, 2021, by and among Mister 
Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties thereto 
named therein

S-1/A 333-256697 10.1(b) 6/17/2021

10.3 Amended and Restated First Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated May 14, 2019, by and among 
Mister Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties 
thereto named therein

S-1 333-256697 10.1 06/02/2021

10.4 First Amendment to the Amended and Restated First 
Lien Term Loan Agreement, dated February 5, 2020, 
by and among Mister Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and 
the parties thereto named therein

S-1 333-256697 10.1(a) 06/02/2021

10.5 Second Amendment to the First Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated June 4, 2021, by and among Mister 
Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties thereto 
named therein

S-1 333-256697 10.2 06/02/2021

10.6 First Amendment to the Second Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated March 31, 2020, by and among 
Mister Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties 
thereto named therein

S-1 333-256697 10.2(a) 06/02/2021

10.7 Third Amendment to the First Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated December 8, 2021, by and among 
Mister Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties 
thereto named therein

10-K 001-40542 10.7 03/25/2022

10.8† 2014 Stock Option Plan of Hotshine Holdings, Inc. S-1 333-256697 10.3 06/02/2021
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Form of Option Agreement under the 2014 Stock 
Option Plan of Hotshine Holdings, Inc. Form of 
Option Agreement under the 2014 Stock Option Plan 
of Hotshine Holdings, Inc.

S-1 333-256697 10.3(a)1 06/02/2021

10.9† Mister Car Wash, Inc. 2021 Incentive Award Plan S-1A 333-256697 10.4 06/17/2021

10.10† Mister Car Wash, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan

S-1A 333-256697 10.12 06/17/2021

10.11† Mister Car Wash, Inc. Executive Severance Plan S-1A 333-256697 10.13 06/17/2021

10.12† Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy S-1A 333-256697 10.5 06/17/2021

10.13† Form of Indemnification and Advancement 
Agreement

S-1A 333-256697 10.6 06/17/2021

10.14† Employment Agreement with John Lai  10-K 001-40542 10.14 03/25/2022

10.15† Form of Option Agreement under the Mister Car 
Wash, Inc. 2021 Incentive Award Plan

S-1A 333-256697 10.10 06/17/2021

10.16† Form of RSU Agreement under the Mister Car Wash, 
Inc. 2021 Incentive Award Plan

S-1A 333-256697 10.11 06/17/2021

10.17† Mister Car Wash, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan

S-1A 333-256697 10.12 06/17/2021

10.18† Mister Car Wash, Inc. Executive Severance Plan S-1A 333-256697 10.13 06/17/2022

10.19† Transition Agreement, dated June 21,2022, by and 
between Mister Car Wash, Inc. and Lisa Funk

8-K 001-40542 10.1 06/24/2022

10.20 Fourth Amendment to the First Lien Term Loan 
Agreement, dated December 12, 2022, by and among 
Mister Car Wash Holdings, Inc. and the parties 
thereto named therein

10-K 001-40542 10.20 02/24/2023

10.21† Offer Letter with Markus Hartmann 10-Q 001-40542 10.1 05/03/2023

10.22† Car Wash Partners, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred 
Compensation Plan, as amended and restated 
effective January 1, 2022

10-Q 001-40542 10.2 05/03/2023

10.23† Promotion Letter with Joseph Matheny *

10.24† Promotion Letter with Mayra Chimienti *

10.25† Offer Letter with Mary Porter *

21.1 List of subsidiaries of Mister Car Wash, Inc. *

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent 
registered public accounting firm

*

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

*

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

*

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

**

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

**

97.1 Mister Car Wash, Inc. Clawback Policy *

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance 
document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the 
Inline XBRL document

*

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
Document

*

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 
Linkbase Document

*
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101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 
Linkbase Document

*

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document

*

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase Document

*

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

+ Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company undertakes to 
furnish supplemental copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 Mister Car Wash, Inc.
  

Date: February 23, 2024  By: /s/ John Lai
 John Lai

 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 23, 2024 By: /s/ Jedidiah Gold

Jedidiah Gold
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature     Title     Date

/s/ John Lai February 23, 2024
John Lai

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
(principal executive officer)

/s/ Jedidiah Gold February 23, 2024
Jedidiah Gold

Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and 
accounting officer)

/s/ John Danhakl February 23, 2024
John Danhakl

Director

/s/ Jonathan Seiffer February 23, 2024
Jonathan Seiffer

Director

/s/ J. Kristofer Galashan Director February 23, 2024
J. Kristofer Galashan

/s/ Jeffrey Suer February 23, 2024
Jeffrey Suer

Director

/s/ Jodi Taylor Director February 23, 2024
Jodi Taylor

/s/ Dorvin Lively Director February 23, 2024
Dorvin Lively

/s/ Ronald Kirk Director February 23, 2024
Ronald Kirk

/s/ Veronica Rogers Director February 23, 2024
Veronica Rogers

/s/ Atif Rafiq Director February 23, 2024
Atif Rafiq






